

Mitigating impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on primary and lower secondary children during school closures

A RAPID EVIDENCE REVIEW



Gemma Moss, Alice Bradbury, Sinéad Harmey Rosie Mansfield, Bridget Candy, Rachel France, Carol Vigurs September 2021



Mitigating impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on primary and lower secondary children during school closures:

A rapid evidence review

Authors:

Gemma Moss, Alice Bradbury, Sinéad Harmey, Rosie Mansfield Bridget Candy, Rachel France and Carol Vigurs





Author affiliations

- Gemma Moss, International Literacy Centre, UCL Institute of Education
- Alice Bradbury, Helen Hamlyn Centre for Pedagogy, UCL Institute of Education
- Sinéad Harmey, International Literacy Centre, UCL Institute of Education
- Rosie Mansfield, UCL Social Research Institute
- Bridget Candy, EPPI Centre, UCL Social Research Institute
- Rachel France, STEaPP (Science, Technology, Engineering and Public Policy), UCL
- Carol Vigurs, EPPI Centre, UCL Social Research Institute

Funding & funder involvement

The UK government Department for Education (DfE) funded this work following a recommendation from the Scientific Advisory Group for Emergencies (SAGE).

This is one of four reviews successfully bid for and managed by the EPPI Centre (https://eppi.ioe.ac.uk) within the DfE/SAGE programme.

The work was undertaken under the umbrella of the ESRC funded International Public Policy Observatory (IPPO) (https://covidandsociety.com).

Conflicts of interest

There were no conflicts of interest in the writing of this report.

Contributions

The opinions expressed in this publication are not necessarily those of the EPPI Centre or the funders. Responsibility for the views expressed remains solely with the authors.

This report should be cited as: Moss G, Bradbury A, Harmey S, Mansfield R, Candy B, France R, Vigurs C (2021) *Mitigating impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on primary and lower secondary children during school closures: a rapid evidence review.* London: EPPI Centre, UCL Social Research Institute, University College London.

Design and editorial support by: Lionel Openshaw

ISBN: 978-1-911605-22-5

© Copyright 2021

Authors of the systematic reviews on the EPPI Centre website (http://eppi.ioe.ac.uk/) hold the copyright for the text of their reviews. The EPPI Centre owns the copyright for all material on the website it has developed, including the contents of the databases, manuals, and keywording and data-extraction systems. The centre and authors give permission for users of the site to display and print the contents of the site for their own non-commercial use, providing that the materials are not modified, copyright and other proprietary notices contained in the materials are retained, and the source of the material is cited clearly following the citation details provided. Otherwise, users are not permitted to duplicate, reproduce, re-publish, distribute, or store material from this website without express written permission.

CONTENTS

Abstract	4
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	5
BACKGROUND	8
OBJECTIVES	9
METHODS	9
The evidence base for harms to pupils in the UK	12
The evidence base for mitigations in the UK and elsewhere	15
DISCUSSION	29
CONCLUSIONS	31
REFERENCES	32
APPENDICES	35
APPENDIX 1: METHODS	35
APPENDIX 2: SEARCH STRATEGIES	41
APPENDIX 3: PRISMA DIAGRAM FOR INCLUDED STUDIES OF HARMS	47
APPENDIX 4: REFERENCES TO INCLUDED STUDIES ON HARMS	48
APPENDIX 5: STUDIES BY TYPE OF HARM	53

Abstract

Background: To control the spread of the SARS-CoV-2 virus during the COVID-19 pandemic, UK schools were closed and education activity was undertaken at home resulting in considerable disruption to children's education.

Aims: To identify and assess evidence of harms caused to primary and lower secondary pupils during this time and identify mitigation strategies relevant to those harms.

Methods: A rapid evidence review tailored to delivery at pace, drawing on UK evidence for harms and relevant mitigation strategies.

Findings on harms

There is evidence that the patterns of disruption to education during the pandemic have impacted on children's *learning and attainment, mental health and wellbeing, physical health and nutrition* and *increased exposure to risk* especially for those children living in potentially dangerous domestic settings. Although the quality of the evidence is uneven, it is clear that children living in poverty have been most affected, in particular through food insecurity and conditions triggering stress and anxiety in the home, alongside their more limited opportunities to access digital resources for learning, or indeed outside space for physical activity. Attempts to distinguish harms that impact in the short term from longer lasting harms may take time. It also requires schools to have access to contextually relevant diagnostic tools they can use to assess the range of harms in need of redress in their local context.

Findings on mitigation strategies

We found no evidence for mitigation strategies directly relevant to the harms experienced by children due to school closures under COVID-19. Mitigation strategies suggested in the UK often derived their evidence of efficacy from circumstances quite unlike the prolonged patterns of disruption to education that COVID has caused. Most were designed to address the needs of a few pupils struggling under normal circumstances and were not able to demonstrate their relevance at scale. We therefore examined the primary literature on recovery from unplanned school closures in other countries focused on school-based strategies that had been evaluated as effective under similar conditions.

Conclusion

We found some evidence of a range of harms but little research evidence on relevant mitigation strategies and an absence of evidence on those strategies that schools themselves have adopted since re-opening, tailored to local needs. Such mitigation strategies may be highly relevant for system learning, and it is important to document and evaluate their efficacy, and indeed learn from them. Closing schools during the pandemic has revealed the importance of schools in safeguarding children. School staff should be given the training and resources to be able to identify children at risk and refer pupils to appropriate services if necessary.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report is based on a review of the available literature on harms to pupils in primary and lower secondary schools from the extended period of education disruption they have experienced since March 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Once harms were identified we looked for mitigation strategies that could address them.

Background

During the national lockdowns, only vulnerable and key worker children were able to access the physical school site. Other children stayed at home. Patterns to home learning differed from patterns of learning in school across several different dimensions. Establishing routines might be more difficult, depending on home circumstances and parents' commitments when they were newly working from home; pupils might feel less motivated to engage in learning at home; there would be fewer opportunities to socialise with their friends than in school. This lack of social contact, heightened by worries about the virus and its impact on their families, might impact on mental health and wellbeing. Parents' understanding of the tasks set and the *support* they could offer might vary; as would pupils' access to digital technology. Some pupils would be restricted to cramped living conditions limiting the possibilities for physical exercise, or places to work quietly in rooms they shared with siblings. Some students living in families exposed to food insecurity would be rendered more vulnerable given the important nutritional role of school lunches. Some students would find themselves exposed to increased levels of risk at home in contexts where family stress, domestic violence and other forms of abuse might be a significant threat to children's welfare. Each of these different factors may impact on children's capacity to learn and will need careful consideration as the disruption eases and children return to school.

Against this background we undertook our rapid review of the evidence focused on these questions:

What is the current research evidence on:

RQ1: the harms created by school closure during the COVID-19 pandemic on primary school and lower secondary children;

RQ2: mitigations for these harms that have been: (a) used during the current pandemic or (b) used elsewhere to address harms arising from similar periods of educational disruption and with potential to be transferable.

Methods

Our rapid review was tailored to delivery at pace. For example, we focused on UK-based evidence of harms and used the best available quality systematic reviews for mitigation strategies relevant to pandemic conditions. We looked for high quality evidence in peer reviewed journals, prioritising synthesis reviews if they existed. This was supplemented by searches of the grey literature in the UK. (The methods including the searches are fully described below and in the appendices to the report.)

The quality of the studies retrieved

The quality of the evidence identified was uneven. Surveys were the most frequently used research instrument but many lacked a representative sample, and few were able to make comparison with data collected before the pandemic. Many relied on eliciting respondents' opinions about harms in the future, without acknowledging the potential weaknesses of such speculations. Fewer studies were able to rely on appropriate administrative data, giving clearer snapshots of changes over time. These were used to good effect in medical studies, e.g. on hospital admissions, though even here there were uncertainties over interpretation. In order to avoid omitting harms for which only weak data are currently available but which may prove important as the effects of the pandemic unfold, we retained in the review some studies of relatively weak design. In each of the relevant review sections we draw attention to any design weaknesses that impact on the conclusions that can safely be drawn from particular studies.

Given the gaps in the evidence collected to date, further research will be needed over the medium to long term to differentiate between *relatively short-term harms*, and *longer lasting harms* that may require longer term investment.

Findings

Harms

We found 65 studies providing evidence of harms to learning and attainment, mental health and wellbeing, physical health and nutrition and in increased exposure to risk factors.

Learning and Attainment

We reviewed test data collected over the first year of the pandemic that showed there are some losses to learning and that these were greater for younger children. Some data also suggest that progress in maths may have been harder hit than in English. This will need to be kept under review. Test data also suggest an uneven pattern to gains and losses for individuals. Teachers will need to be aware of this. Bearing this in mind, impacts have been most directly felt in disadvantaged communities where any reduction in quality of work and lack of access to IT will have had most effect.

Mental Health and Wellbeing

There is mixed evidence of impacts on mental health and wellbeing from school closures. Studies found evidence to suggest both positive and negative impacts. There are some indications that: pre-adolescent children showed greater deterioration in mental health (Waite et al., 2021); girls were more likely to experience difficulties than boys (Raw et al., 2021); young people identifying as LGBTQ+ and those who were experiencing anxiety before the lockdown are likely to require more support on return to school (Widnall et al., 2020); young people from low-income families and those with SEND faced greater challenges with mental health and wellbeing (Pearcey et al., 2020).

Physical Health and Nutrition

Food insecurity and declines in physical exercise were the most prominent harms identified from school closures. There is strong and reliable evidence that families were more reliant on foodbanks during the pandemic; those whose incomes had been substantially hit by the pandemic became more reliant on the support schools could offer. The pandemic highlighted the crucial role schools play in sustaining basic nutrition, whether during or outside of pandemic conditions. On physical health the picture was more mixed. For some children there were gains, for others, losses. Parents of children with physical or intellectual disabilities, for instance, reported their children had done less physical activity during lockdown (Theis et al., 2021), mainly because access to outside space was restricted. We found no evidence on harms to child development. This may be easier to assess once early years children return to schools and other early years settings.

Increased Exposure to Risk Factors

Although only a minority of children suffered from exposure to harms in this category, the evidence we reviewed showed the number of incidents has increased during lockdowns and school closures, and some harms are significant including increased risk of sexual abuse and criminal exploitation. Increased risk has been compounded by the challenges of providing professional safeguarding during a pandemic. This issue deserves priority attention as schools return.

Mitigations

Our review demonstrated a need to distinguish between short-term harms that can be swiftly repaired as pupils return to familiar school routines and a less disrupted pattern of education; and longer-term harms that may not be immediately apparent and will need careful assessment into the next academic year. The exception here are safeguarding issues. Schools will need to address these as a priority and should be in receipt of appropriate resources and training, as a matter of urgency.

Elsewhere, our review concluded that there was less strong evidence for mitigations that might successfully address the harms we list above, either individually, or in recognition of their potential to interact. This is because many of those interventions suggested are based on addressing individual needs that present under normal conditions. In fact, mitigation strategies targeting small numbers of children in need of additional support under normal conditions might not automatically confer benefits to larger number of pupils, nor be manageable at scale. Given the unusual circumstances in which children were absent from school, harms may also not present so discretely, or be amenable to being solved one by

To date little research has been conducted on the mitigation strategies that schools themselves have put in place either during the different phases of the pandemic, or since the last full lockdown ended. This is an important area of system knowledge that is currently not being fully exploited, yet may have most relevance for rebuilding school functioning after this prolonged period of disruption (Harmey and Moss, 2020). Not least given the very different ways in which individual schools and their communities will have experienced the pandemic, and the local priorities this will rightly lead to.

BACKGROUND

The issue

To control the spread of the SARS-CoV-2 virus during the COVID-19 pandemic, UK schools, colleges, universities, and other education institutions were closed between March and June 2020, in November 2020 and between January and March 2021. In primary and secondary schools, all education activity was undertaken at home, except for vulnerable children and those of key workers who were able to attend school in person. To comply with infection control measures as the pandemic continued, many children also had to quarantine during periods when schools were open, meaning school attendance was patchy. Taken alongside the uneven access to digital resources for those pupils learning at home, this has led to considerable disruption to children and young people's education since March 2020.

Rationale for the review

The review sought to identify harms resulting from high levels of educational disruption and mitigation strategies that might most effectively address them. This review considers the growing body of evidence highlighting actual and anticipated harms caused by school closure in UK to primary and secondary age pupils (reception to Year 11), their mental health and wellbeing, their physical health, their learning and attainment, and through increased exposure to risk from spending longer at home. Where studies found unexpected gains from, for instance, reduced air pollution or having more quality time with family, and where uneven patterns of gains and losses were reported, we have included these.

We considered emerging evidence on mitigation strategies in the UK or elsewhere that might address harms caused by the high level of education disruption due to COVID-19. Where appropriate this included evidence on adaptations made in school while the pandemic continued, or mitigations implemented and well-documented from earlier disasters and other recent unexpected and high impact events that brought disruption to education by restricting children's access to the physical school site and what such access normally affords. These include school responses to earlier instances of the SARS pandemic in other countries, hurricane Katrina and earthquakes in New Zealand. A rapid evidence review of these literatures can inform what we currently know about the harms that may impact UK school children during education disruption due to COVID-19 and how these harms in any further school closures due to COVID-19 or other disasters may be mitigated (See Harmey and Moss, 2020 for a summary of a systematic review of this literature, submitted as written evidence to the Education Select Committee Inquiry into the impact of COVID-19 (https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/12497/pdf/). The search was rerun as part of this review but returned no further papers. We draw on that evidence base in our report.

Positionality of the topic experts

Professor Gemma Moss is Director of the International Literacy Centre, UCL Institute of Education. She has led three projects on the impacts of COVID on education, two with funding from the ESRC. She has research interests in the relationships between policy and practice, research-informed education and gender and literacy.

Professor Alice Bradbury is Professor of Sociology of Education and Co-Director of the Helen Hamlyn Centre for Pedagogy. She has been involved in two projects funded by the ESRC on the impact of Covid on primary education and additional projects on phonics testing during the pandemic and schools' use of teaching assistants.

Dr Sinéad Harmey is a Lecturer in Literacy Education. She has conducted rapid evidence assessments for projects funded by the EEF, ETF, ESRC, and the Froebel Trust. Her research interests include translational research in education and research-practice partnerships. She has been involved in two projects on the impact of COVID on primary education and on schools' use of teaching assistants.

Dr Rosie Mansfield is a Research Fellow in the Centre for Longitudinal Studies, UCL Social Research Institute. She was a review advisor specializing in the mental health and wellbeing of school-aged children and young people.

Topic experts worked with Dr Bridget Candy, a review expert who advised on the process, ran searches and coded for inclusion; Dr Rachel France, who supported the review process; and Carole Vigurs, a review expert who, advised on the process and ran searches.

OBJECTIVES

Overarching review question

What is the current research evidence on: (i) the harms created by school closure during the COVID-19 pandemic on primary and lower secondary school children; (ii) mitigations for these harms that have been: (a) used during the current pandemic or (b) used elsewhere to address harms arising from similar periods of educational disruption and with potential to be transferable.

METHODS

Overview of approach

Reviews vary in the breadth of their question, the depth with which they examine a question and the exhaustiveness of the review process. This rapid evidence review was undertaken in a very short period of time and this approach is sometimes called a 'rapid review'. Rapid reviews are delivered at pace, and in response to immediate demands for overviews of evidence from research. As a result, decisions are made on how to reduce the usual time taken on some of the stages and processes of a full systematic review. This may be in narrowing the focus of the review, by population or to the most comparable contexts, by focusing only on those sources of literature where the most on-topic studies are likely to

be found, and through a focus on metareviews, where available. Each of these approaches involve trade-offs between specificity of topic against the generalizability of findings and what could also be learned from the wider issues and insights around the topic that may also be of interest. In this review, rapidity was achieved by searching only for UK evidence regarding harms. For mitigation strategies, we searched in the first instance for the most trustworthy and relevant systematic reviews but, as limited relevant evidence was found, alternative sources were considered including that from other disasters leading to unscheduled school closure as noted above.

This review has been carried out at a particular phase of the pandemic, when it is still too early to assess what the separate effects for education have been of the pandemic, the lockdown, and the attendant social, economic and political challenges. What has appeared consistently in the commentary on the pandemic has been a theme of the interconnectedness of the education sector with all other areas of public policy and social relationships. While conventions of administration, disciplinary focus, and social relations demarcate boundaries between different phases of education and different areas of experience, for example, health, work, and education, the pandemic has highlighted their interconnection. Appreciating how these connections have been documented in the research literature is an important step in building and learning from the tragedies, stresses, and loss of the past eighteen months. Therefore, it is challenging to separate out harms due specifically to closure of schools and harms due to other factors connected with the pandemic.

The review had two main sub-questions resulting in two stages with different research strategies:

- 1) **Stage 1:** To identify the nature and extent of harms or impacts of the pandemic due to school closures in UK children who are pupils of primary and lower secondary schools.
- 2) **Stage 2:** To identify research evidence on how to tackle harms identified in Stage 1 in terms of both immediate mitigation of those harms and longer-term adaption to prevent future harms.

The lead authors of this review are education specialists in their field. This has enabled quicker clarification of conceptual issues and informed searching, appraisal and interpretation of evidence. The strategy adopted combines the rigour and transparency of systematic review principles with the insights of topic specialists. The limitations this strategy has placed on this review are considered in the report.

Assessing the quality and relevance of the studies reviewed

Using Seeger et al.'s (1998) description of a crisis as 'a specific and non-routine event or series of events that create high levels of uncertainty and threaten or are perceived to threaten life and property or general well-being' (p.233), we considered COVID-19 as a disruptive event that would impact on children's education, independently of the disease itself.

In the UK the pandemic restricted physical access to schools for many children, especially during periods of lockdown, creating new conditions in which many children were largely confined to home. The only exceptions were vulnerable children and children of key

workers who were entitled to attend during lockdowns. When schools re-opened, they were subject to further control measures designed to minimise transmission of the disease which meant that 'bubbles' or classes of children thought to be at risk of catching the disease could be sent home at short notice, sometimes repeatedly. All of this disrupted normal patterns of school attendance for the majority of pupils (DfE, 2020). In addition, schools were liable to have fewer staff on site, both because of transmission of the disease, and because of the policy directive in England to supply four hours of remote learning to all pupils isolating at home. This led many schools to keep staff at home planning and conducting remote learning, with a skeleton staff on site to look after the fewer students physically attending (Moss et al., 2021). This pattern of lockdowns and school closures, with large numbers of school-age children confined to home, created the unusual context in which we reviewed the harms that might follow, and any mitigation strategies intended to address them.

Drawing on Rapid Evidence Assessment (REA) methodology (Thomas et al., 2013) which privileges both the quality of a study's methodology *and* its fitness for purpose in light of the review questions, we categorized harms relevant to primary and lower secondary pupils as follows:

- Learning and teaching experiences due to changes in amount or modes of teaching, with knock-on effects on attainment and socialisation;
- Mental health and wellbeing affected or exacerbated by the uncertainties the pandemic caused;
- Physical health, nutrition and development from restricted access to the social context of the school;
- Increased exposure to risk factors at home e.g. misuse of substances, domestic violence, bereavement; material disbenefits of poverty (overcrowding, lack of access to outdoor space); screen time; support service access.

We paid attention to evidence of disproportionate impacts on vulnerable children and SEND children. We noted other harms identified in our searches that fell outside the categories originally suggested, as well as taking into account any reported gains.

We defined mitigation broadly as ways to prevent or mitigate harms whether identified at policy, education, individual school, community or household level.

We found from our preliminary screening of studies that credible calculations of short- to longer-term harms needed careful assessment. The studies we reviewed showed that such calculations are difficult to make with confidence at this point in the crisis, and some studies speculate about future harms using data whose relevance to disruption to education from COVID is unproven. In our assessment for inclusion, we therefore distinguished on whether a study drew on appropriate evidence to identify impacts from likely harms due to COVID-linked disruption, or showed sufficient caution about the calculations made about the harms themselves. Higher quality studies were those where authors had commented on limitations in the data they had collected for the claims made and made the case for their relevance clear, and in considered terms. Equally we were aware that mitigation strategies targeting small numbers of children in need of additional support under normal conditions, might not automatically confer benefits to larger number of pupils where harms might not present so discretely, and given the unusual circumstances in which children were absent from school.

Our approach to quality assessment can therefore be summarised as follows:

- That the evidence of current harms must be robust ie not based on speculation about the future, but treated as evidence of actual harms;
- That mitigation strategies must be suitable for addressing harms that have resulted from this specific disruptive event. For instance, we reviewed studies that drew parallels with similar harms created under normal conditions (e.g. learning loss during planned holiday closures) and assessed some as potentially misleading, on the basis of the evidence presented;
- That studies needed to be aware of the strengths and limitations of any research evidence they were using to generalize from one context to another.

Full details of the methods used are in Appendix 1.

Initially the evidence reported here was to be presented in two reports: one for primary school children and one for lower secondary. Our reason for deciding to combine reviews for harms experienced by pupils in primary and lower secondary sectors was confirmed, given the large proportion of studies which considered both primary and secondary students and the relatively few which restricted their findings to either primary or secondary age pupils. Where relevant we draw attention to age differences reported in the studies we reviewed.

THE EVIDENCE BASE FOR HARMS TO PUPILS IN THE UK

In this section we summarise the nature and extent of the literature we included in the review as a whole and some of its strengths and weaknesses. We then present findings under each thematic area.

Overview of the included studies

Sixty-five studies met our inclusion criteria for harms. Most studies included addressed harms to mental health and wellbeing or learning and attainment. There were fewer studies on physical health, nutrition and development, or increased exposure to harms from children not being in school (See Table 1).

Table 1 Numbers of studies by harm type*

Category	Mental Health, wellbeing	Physical health, nutrition and development	Learning and attainme nt	Increased exposure to harms	Other
Total n	29	17	32	11	4

^{*} studies cover more than one harm type

References to included studies are in Appendix 4.

We report in detail on the quality of studies reviewed in each area in the thematic sections that follow. Here we make some general observations. The majority of the studies

reviewed used survey data. A few, particularly in health-related areas and on learning and attainment, were able to make good use of available administrative data (See Table 2 below).

Of the 65 studies we identified, few were of the highest quality. This confirms our observation in our interim report that there is little robust evidence available so far from which to draw clear conclusions about harms from the lockdown for primary and lower secondary age pupils, and how far the re-opening of schools will lead to their rapid repair or require longer term investment.

The lack of robust evidence for harms was not compensated for by our search of the grey literature despite anticipating the more rapid production of research reports made possible in third-sector organisations (e.g. Anna Freud Centre, National Foundation for Education Research) campaign groups (e.g. Food Foundation) and think tanks (e.g. Education Policy Institute).

Table 2 Numbers of studies reviewed by harm type and study design* to show the relative weighting of studies of different types and their contribution to each theme

Category	Mental Health, wellbeing	Physical health nutrition and development	Learning and attainme nt	Increased exposure to harms	Other
Survey	9	7	15	3	1
Case study	0	0	1	0	0
Administrative	4	9	11	4	1
Data					
Existing	О	1	4	0	0
Longitudinal					
Dataset					
Review	4	1	1	1	0
Interviews/Focus	2	0	1	2	1
Groups/ Diaries					
Qualitative					
Analysis					
Action Research	0	0	0	1	0
Total, all	29	17	32	11	4

^{*} some studies cover more than one harm type

Areas of concern over quality include some research using quantitative modelling to predict future harms based on comparisons with data collected under very different circumstances prior to the pandemic. For instance, in a systematic review of the literature on learning loss conducted by two members of the review team with funding from ESRC (Harmey and Moss, 2020), we concluded that the most robust research is cautious about drawing analogies between normal times and the unusual circumstances of the pandemic. The main literature on learning loss is based on assessing the impact of planned closures during summer holidays of different lengths in the US. Even here, the most considered research on learning loss, undertaken by Kuhfeld and colleagues at NWEA, is clear that patterns of loss and gain are rarely linear, and often more unpredictable than the models would suggest (Johnson et al., 2021)). Predictive modelling needs to be treated with care.

The methodological quality of studies using survey designs was often poor due to:

- The types of questions asked, and in particular how they treated responses to
 questions designed to elicit opinions on future harms. Some studies treated these as
 uncomplicated evidence of future harms, not expressions of current concerns or
 worries;
- The size of the survey and likely representativeness of the sample.

The best quality survey designs were able to exploit longitudinal data and repeated measures collected from a representative sample of respondents recruited prior to COVID so they could compare changes in the patterns of response pre and post the pandemic (e.g. Mansfield et al., 2020). We did not exclude studies with small samples where a case was made warranting their inclusion (e.g. a hard to reach sub-sample of the population as a whole e.g. Theis, 2021) and the conclusions drawn took the size of the sample and its fitness for purpose into account. A good example is a study based on a small and unrepresentative sample surveyed at different time points during COVID (Jester and Kang, 2021), where the study's strengths and weaknesses were reported transparently and factored into the conclusions drawn. We draw attention to how these criteria applied in each thematic area in the sections of the report that follow.

Likely explanations of the comparative weakness of the evidence base to date include:

The slow publication cycle in peer-reviewed journals – this produces a lag in getting evidence into the public realm which may be heightened at this moment of crisis. The crisis also produced conditions where it was difficult to collect new data at speed using a range of methods otherwise well used by academic researchers.

The availability of data – there are some relevant administrative data available for research purposes which we identified e.g. on children visiting A&E for injuries (numbers fell during the pandemic – see Roland et al., 2020) but mostly researchers have relied on survey evidence. The survey quality, as already stated, was variable with some surveys not reaching a sample size appropriate to answering the questions posed.

The timing of any enquiry into harms. The literature on testing children cautions against doing this too soon after a disruptive event and then using the resulting data as the basis for calculations of future harms (See Sims (2020). Test data collected before children have had a chance to reconnect with learning in school and the return to the physical setting, and all it offers them, while the pandemic is ongoing, may simply exaggerate impacts. This could lead to over-prescription of targeted catchup programmes designed for those requiring additional support under normal conditions. Time back in class with a broad curriculum adjusted to engage children following a period of disruption could reap quicker rewards. We consider these issues more fully under the learning attainment section of this report.

There were very few robust synthesis reviews of work already published amongst our included studies. We are aware that more evidence of short-term and longer lasting harms will be required going forward. As more robust evidence emerges over time, so it will be easier to distinguish the most appropriate mitigation strategies.

THE EVIDENCE BASE FOR MITIGATIONS IN THE UK AND ELSEWHERE

We found a limited evidence base for mitigations designed to address such an unprecedented and widespread disruption to education in the UK. Here we present the findings from our reviews of the relevant studies already published; and suggest what actions can sensibly be taken in the light of that evidence. This includes the case for looking beyond the UK.

Regarding systematic review and other evidence for mitigations in the UK, we found eight relevant studies:

Learning and attainment	Mental health and	Risk factors	Physical health
	wellbeing		and nutrition
Blainey and Hannay, 2021	Anna Freud Centre	Racher and Brodie, 2020	EPI, 2021
Harmey and Moss, 2020	Cortina et al., 2019		Moss et al., 2020
Kuhfeld et al., 2020			

These reviews of mitigation strategies were either peer-reviewed or produced by authors leading in the field. They provide the best estimates we could find in terms of likely effectiveness of the mitigation strategies reviewed. We have commented on other relevant references in the text which follows. Here we comment on why we considered so few studies to be relevant.

Many of the mitigation strategies designed to boost attainment are based on interventions targeted at a small number of pupils falling behind under normal circumstances. Their relevance to larger numbers of students falling behind under exceptional circumstances is not certain. Their efficacy depends upon small group provision, delivered with minimal disruption and maximum continuity, conditions that are hard to replicate while the pandemic continues to disrupt education through ongoing, frequent and unpredictable absences. In other words, judgements of their efficacy do not directly take account of the novel conditions of the pandemic and must remain uncertain.

In the case of mitigation strategies to address issues relating to mental health and wellbeing, despite identifying a relatively large number of studies relating to children and young people's mental health during the pandemic, there is limited evidence that can causally attribute changes in mental health and wellbeing to COVID-19 restrictions. Many studies lack pre-pandemic comparisons of symptoms, but those that have tracked children and young people throughout lockdown identify unequal impacts of the pandemic on mental health. The mitigations we provide therefore focus on immediate responses such as helping schools support and monitor the most vulnerable pupils as they return, while acknowledging their limited resources, and the capacity of external services to deal with referrals. We highlight the importance of proactive approaches for prevention of mental health difficulties and the promotion of positive mental health that address pre-existing structural inequalities that have been exaggerated by the pandemic. Known barriers for schools in terms of providing effective mental health support are presented along with a number of programmes aiming to evaluate the implementation and impact of a range of school-based mental health and wellbeing interventions.

In the UK to date there is therefore a paucity of evidence for appropriate mitigation strategies. This is why it is important to plan ahead, and document evidence of the local-level mitigation strategies that schools are putting in place in response to their immediate judgements of their populations' needs. These may be more carefully attuned to local circumstances. While school-led mitigation strategies are under-researched so far in the UK, we are aware there is an international evidence base arising from school recovery from natural disasters with similar patterns of educational disruption in other parts of the world that is relevant to COVID-19. In this light we include findings from an earlier rapid evidence review of this literature, based on previous natural disasters, and originally undertaken as part of a different research project but updated in this context as part of this review.

Findings: Learning and Attainment harms and mitigations

The nature and extent of harm caused by the disruption of the COVID-19 pandemic to learning and opportunities to access teaching has been an issue of concern throughout the pandemic.

As expected, a high proportion of studies identifying harms (n = 32) fell under this theme. These comprised 15 surveys (Banerjee (2021); Cattan (2021); Children's Parliament (2020); Greenway (2020); Lawton (2021); Leaton (2021); Levita (2020); Lucas (2020); Mansfield et al (2020); Marchant (2020); Mueller (2020); Parentkind (2020a); Parentkind (2020b); The Sutton Trust (2021a); The Sutton Trust (2021b)), one case study (Couper-Kenny (2021)), eleven secondary reports of existing administrative datasets (Sosu (2021); Andrew (2020); Blainey (2021); Cullinane (2021); Davies (2021); DFE (2021); DFE (2020); Montacute (2021); NSPCC (2020b); Rose (2021); Scottish Govt (2020)), four analyses of longitudinal datasets (Bayrakdar (2020); Elvers (2020); Education Policy Institute (2020); Juniper (2021)), one literature review (Lopez-Bueno (2020) and one study using a qualitative design (McCluskey et al (2021)).

Quality assessment of studies

The consensus from our expert assessment is that the findings from many of the papers published need to be treated with caution. As stated earlier, this is partly because of the quality of some studies, particularly those using predictive modelling to calculate impacts in the future; and also because it may simply be too early to assess the harms to learning and their attendant impacts on attainment, when schools have only just opened and are beginning to put mitigation strategies into place.

To assess the impact of the disruption to learning on attainment and opportunities to learn, some studies used large datasets. For example, the Department for Education (DfE) (2021) in conjunction with Renaissance Learning and the Education Policy institute used data from over one million assessments undertaken in STAR reading and 58000 in STAR maths from half-term 2020/21 (p. 38). Blainey and Hannay (2021) analysed test data from 800 schools. In both studies, the researchers calculated impacts on attainment midway through the year of disruption. Researchers also used real-time data to compare to earlier years to analyse attendance (Sosu & Klein, 2020) and time use (Andrew et al., 2020 used the UK Time Use Survey).

A greater number of studies used survey data to estimate the impact of school closures on learning and attainment (See Table 2 above for a breakdown). These were primarily based on parent or teacher reports on and estimation of harms from the volumes of work set and returned, or the time children spent learning, compared to time spent in school under normal conditions. Some of these studies only reported at the start of the first lockdown, at a point when schools were still in the process of adapting to novel circumstances. For those surveys that collected data at two time points there were issues of attrition at the second timepoint (e.g. Cattan et al., 2021). Grey literature publications using surveys lacked clarity in terms of survey construction, piloting, method, and representativeness of samples making it hard to assess the generalisability of findings.

Another issue is the timing of data collection in the light of the unfolding event. Findings from the first lockdown in March 2020 may differ significantly from subsequent closures when, for instance, schools had developed more refined contingency strategies and, for example, better provision for children entitled to free school meals.

Attention must also be paid to the metrics used in studies to estimate learning loss using attainment data. The interpretation of these data needs to be treated with caution, as will be discussed in the next section.

Nature and extent of different harms to learning and attainment

The evidence these studies presented suggest that the key harms included (1) a reduction of time spent learning at home compared to what would have typically been spent in school, (2) a reduction in the quality of work completed at home, (3) lack of access to remote learning due to inequalities in access to technology, and (4) impacts on attainment on the return to school.

Time spent learning: It is evident that during the COVID-19 pandemic children have spent less time on learning due to absence or reduced time spent on formal learning activities at home compared to school. Sosu and Klein (2020) found that, in Scotland, the rate of absence during the COVID-19 pandemic was higher (9.4%) than the previous year (6.7%) and that this increased for children from low-SES backgrounds (21%). Andrew et al. (2020) reported that 20% of children were doing less than 2 hours of home learning and that younger children were more likely to spend less time learning that their older peers. Cattan et al. (2021) looked at differences across the first and second lockdown and for those that stayed at home learning time decreased. They also found that those in higher SES groups were more likely to return to school. Of course, these findings assume that time in school equals learning. Comparisons of the amount of time children spent learning at home during COVID-19 with the estimated amount of time they would have spent in school in the absence of a pandemic show clear deficits in the time spent.

Reduction in quality of work: In terms of the work produced whilst children worked at home, some teachers reported that the quality of work returned was poor (Cullinane & Montacue, 2021). Lucas et al., (2020) found that 60% of teachers reported that less than 40% of pupils returned work for marking and just over half of parents of children engaged with schools. Lucas et al (2020) also reported that pupil engagement was lower in the most deprived communities, with the proportion of pupils with little or no access to the internet or devices in most deprived communities double that of those in the least deprived communities.

Lack of access to IT: An equally clear finding was that lack of access to technology impacted to a greater degree on children from lower socio-economic backgrounds. Andrew (2020) found that one in ten primary children were either using a mobile phone to access school work or had no device at all. Cullinane and Montacue (2021) reported wide disparities in terms of access to IT and the internet when comparing between public and private schools. For example, 15% of the teachers working in the most deprived areas reported that more than a third of children would not have access to a device compared to '2% in the most affluent state schools' (p.1). Parents of children with special educational needs reported that the array of digital platforms was overwhelming and uncoordinated (Couper-Kenny & Riddell, 2020). To counteract lack of access to IT, Andrew et al. (2020) found that poorer children were more likely to receive learning packs and concluded this led to more passive learning. By contrast, Bayrakdar and Guveli (2020) found that children spent more time learning if work was offline. Bayrakdar and Guveli (2020) also reported that, on average, children with Black-Caribbean or Black-African heritage spent the most hours on schoolwork across all ethnic groups and education stages. Distance teaching

provision explains the largest part of the variation in children's home learning across this group of studies.

Impact on attainment: A key issue is whether the reduction of time, quality, and access to remote learning impacted children's attainment. The DfE (2021) have published an initial assessment of learning loss by the Education Policy Institute and Renaissance Learning which compares test data from Autumn 2020 with that from previous years using STAR assessment data. Using a formula suggested by the Education Endowment Foundation (2021) in an attainment toolkit to convert effect sizes into months this calculated that younger age groups experienced more learning loss (up to two months) and that loss in mathematics was greater (equivalent to 3 months) with regional variations. An effect size quantifies the difference between two groups and is not confounded by sample size (Coe, 2002). The effect sizes in terms of loss range from .01 to -0.17. While there are multiple considerations in calculating effect size and Cohen's benchmark of small (.2), medium (.5), and large (.8) are 'somewhat arbitrary' (Bakker et al., 2019), all of the effect sizes reported are under the benchmark of small. Indeed, using the EEF (2021) toolkit, the data effect sizes reported may more appropriately be described as low impact.

Another issue is the timing of testing. Blainey and Hannay (2021) examined the decline in attainment across all year groups between 2019 and 2020 in reading, maths, and GPS. The authors used attainment results from RS Assessments to compare declines in testing between (a) tests administered when schools reopened at the beginning of autumn 2020 with (b) a previous cohort in 2019 and (c) tests administered at the end of autumn. Findings at the end of autumn demonstrated a decline in scores across all year groups and subjects with younger years groups showing a larger decline compared with the previous year. The decline in these scores, however, is a fifth of the decline at the beginning of autumn.

In conclusion, there are some losses as evidenced by test data from the beginning of the school year 2020/2021 and that these were greater for younger children. Blainey and Hannay's (2020) results also showed that given time to settle back into schools children recovered these gains. Across the board the losses were low impact (EEF, 2021), although with a greater impact on maths than reading, but it may be that it is simply too soon to be testing children and estimating learning loss. Interestingly, these findings echo those of large scale achievement data from the United States which also found that maths was impacted more than reading (Kuhfeld et al., 2020) but that, given time, children were doing better than projected (Johnson et al., 2021).

Mitigations

Immediate responses

It is clear from the studies we reviewed that it might simply be too early to calculate learning lost as a result of school closures during the pandemic and that, given time back in school, without disruption, children may catch up (e.g. Blainey & Hannay, 2021). One implication of these findings is that children should be provided with the opportunity to learn rather than be tested too soon. In the short term, it is evident that teachers will need to pay close attention to observing students and providing differentiated learning opportunities, as appropriate, particularly for children from lower socio-economic backgrounds who were more likely to face disparities in terms of absence, time spent learning, and access to the resources required to engage fully in home learning. Indeed, the

presumption should be that there will be greater variation in attainment in any given class, and that schools can usefully address this through high quality whole class instruction, catering to that variation, and through carefully differentiated learning activities to support specific pupils' needs. Diagnostic assessment in schools should be used to decide where additional support needs to be targeted (e.g. mathematics, reading or writing), in terms of teaching and learning opportunities, bearing in mind the importance for all children of continuing to have access to a broad and balanced curriculum.

Long term change

Longitudinal data will have a role to play in assessing the impact of the COVID-19 disruptions to learning going forward. However, the system is still very much in the immediate aftermath of the event, at the time of writing this review. Given the variable impact COVID-19 has had at local level and the range of other harms that may also impact on pupils' capacity to learn, documented elsewhere in this review, appropriate longer term mitigation strategies have still to be securely identified.

In this context, building on the systematic review conducted by Harmey and Moss (2020) we deemed it helpful to look at other similar events that caused prolonged learning disruption (e.g. other pandemics or closures due to natural disasters) and the lessons learnt from this internationally. In the original review conducted in 2020, Harmey and Moss identified 15 studies that investigated the mitigation strategies adopted by schools in response to other crisis events and examined the recommendations and strategies for recovery identified for when schools reopened. We reran the searches for this study but found no further studies.

Recommendations for successful system recovery identified through the review focused on the crucial role of school leadership at local level (Stuart et al., 2013), the choices leaders were able to make about the curriculum (O'Connor and Takashi, 2014) and the mental health needs of the school community as a whole (Barrett et al., 2012). Studies found that school leaders were in the best position to use their local knowledge to identify and respond to local needs quickly (Howat et al., 2012). They identified that successful school recovery plans valued local knowledge (Mutch, 2016) and this knowledge was key to making appropriate plans for the curriculum (Harmey and Moss, 2020). Such studies also found that in many cases the pace of curriculum delivery benefited from being relaxed, to allow time for children to reflect on their experience and reconnect with the opportunities to socialize in school and find creative outlets (Alvarez, 2010). In addition, the review found that school leadership and policy makers alike recommended a focus on school-wide mental health strategies which would support staff in terms of their own mental health and also their ability to identify and support children's mental health and wellbeing needs (Fletcher & Nicholas, 2016).

Recovery longer term was aided by allowing the educational system as a whole to reflect on the experience of providing education at home, particularly for vulnerable children, and develop comprehensive contingency plans to cater for future disruptions to learning, drawing on what has been learnt at local level. In our expert view, medium- to long-term planning would benefit from considering this proposal. Any contingency planning for the future could also usefully take into account the disproportionate effects on children from poorer backgrounds, of the lack of access to internet and IT, requires strategic investment in technology to render it accessible to all, and that the strategic use of funding would serve these children well in terms of the development of IT skills and access to learning at home.

Findings: Mental health and wellbeing

In the context of this review, this theme produced a relatively large number of papers (n = 29) of which 19 were surveys (Asbury (2020); Children's Commissioner; Children's Commissioner for Wales; Children's Parliament (2020); Jester (2021); Levita (2020); Mansfield (2020); Marchant (2020); Mueller (2020); Nonweiler (2020); Parentkind (2020a); Parentkind (2020b); Pearcey (2020); Pungapong (2020); Shum (2020); Theis (2021); Vizard (2020); Widnall (2020); Young Minds (2020)), four used existing administrative datasets (Kooth (2020); NSPCC (2020a); NSPCC (2020b); Scottish Govt), four were literature reviews (Burkey (2021); Loades (2020); Lopez-Bueno (2020); Nobari (2021)) and two used qualitative designs (McCluskey (2021); Scott (2021)).

Quality assessment of studies

The consensus from our expert assessment of the quality of the papers supports the metaanalyses of work in this area which our searches identified (Loades et al., 2020; Viner et al., 2021): that any estimates of harm from the disruption of education to mental health and wellbeing need to be treated with caution. Key methodological limitations included a lack of capacity in the study design to isolate the impact of the pandemic using prepandemic comparisons of symptoms, and the use of cross-sectional, biased convenience samples as opposed to nationally representative, longitudinal cohort studies or large samples that use weighting to ensure they are representative of the population. As with all child and adolescent mental health research, it was important for studies to acknowledge any differences between self-reported vs. parent/guardian and teacher reported mental health and wellbeing. For this population, it is also particularly challenging to separate developmental changes in mental health and wellbeing that would have taken place anyway from changes due to the pandemic, not least because certain mental health difficulties can increase throughout adolescence, e.g., internalising difficulties (Kessler et al., 2005). International evidence suggests that the COVID-19 pandemic may have slowed the usual decline in externalising difficulties seen at this stage in development (Achterberg et al., 2021).

In the UK, approximately 10.8% of 5–16-year-olds met criteria for at least one mental disorder in England in 2017 (Sadler et al., 2018). The Mental Health and Young People Survey (MHCYP) was repeated in July 2020 during the COVID-19 pandemic offering an opportunity to compare rates of difficulties and found that this figure had increased to 16% (Vizard et al., 2020). Although this study benefited from a robust sample design, there were some methodological limitations. For example, under 50% of the original 2017 sample took part in the follow up survey and the mode of data collection went from face-to-face to online due to the pandemic. The two surveys also used different measures of mental health making direct comparisons inappropriate.

Nature and Extent of Harms to Mental Health and Wellbeing

Taking these limitations into account, evidence from the studies we reviewed to support worsening mental health and wellbeing due to school closure is mixed. One such study was Co-SPACE (Pearcey et al., 2020), a longitudinal study which was launched in March 2020 at the start of the pandemic. The self-selected sample was predominantly female (mothers), white, and had above average income. Although this study was not based on a representative sample and did not have pre-pandemic scores for comparison, it offers both parent/carers reported mental health as well as child self-report, at multiple time points throughout the pandemic. The study team found an increase in pre-adolescent children's

symptoms of mental health difficulties reported by n=2673 parents at two time points in the early stages of the pandemic (March – May 2020). In contrast, the effect on adolescents was smaller with slight reductions in emotional difficulties (Waite et al., 2021). Being female, having SEN/ND or chronic health conditions, and coming from a household with higher levels of parental psychological distress and family conflict increased children's likelihood of experiencing symptoms of emotional difficulties (Raw et al., 2021).

Studies frequently found evidence to suggest both positive and negative impacts on mental health from the disruption to education. For instance, Mansfield et al. (2020) found both positive and negative impacts on the perceived wellbeing of school-aged children, from a large (19,000 pupils) cross-sectional survey. Almost one third reported sleeping and feeling better. In contrast to Waite et al (2021), secondary school pupils reported more negative impacts to wellbeing and lifestyle factors than primary school pupils. However, even among adolescents, there were reports of positive impacts of the Covid-19 lockdown related to spending more time at home with the family.

The evidence to date makes it hard to generalise about the differential impact of effects on different sub-sections of the population. There are indications that:

- Pre-adolescent children showed greater deterioration in mental health (Waite et al., 2021);
- Girls were more likely to experience difficulties than boys (Raw et al., 2021), and girls with probable mental disorders were more likely to have been exposed to arguments within the household during lockdown (Vizard et al., 2020);
- Young people identifying as LGBTQ+ and those who were experiencing anxiety before the lockdown are likely to require more support on return to school (Widnall et al., 2020);
- Young people from low-income families and those with SEND faced greater challenges with mental health and wellbeing (Pearcey et al., 2020).

Mitigations

Immediate responses

The absence of high-quality studies limits the evidence that can be brought to bear on immediate responses. It is clear that the available studies show uneven impacts from the lockdown, with some pupils showing symptoms of emotional distress, but others showing the reverse with increases in wellbeing on some measures (Mansfield et al., 2020). We suggest that in the short term the most practical and immediate response suggested by the evidence would be to help schools find ways to monitor and support students as they return to school, in ways that are compatible with the resources they have in place, and with the capacity to refer students to more specialist support if required. The Anna Freud Centre provides a useful guide to resources for schools to measure and monitor pupil wellbeing, which would help schools in identifying those children requiring support. Available here: https://www.annafreud.org/media/4612/mwb-toolki-final-draft-4.pdf They have a dedicated webpage of COVID specific resources, designed with schools and families in mind: https://www.annafreud.org/coronavirus-support/.

Longer term change

Better quality evidence is needed on the impact of the pandemic on children and young people's mental health and wellbeing. Given that there was evidence of worsening adolescent mental health in the UK before the pandemic (Fink *et al.*, 2015; Sadler et al.,

2018; Patalay and Gage, 2019), the available evidence suggests a need for a wider review of how mental health is supported in and through education.

Structural solutions are needed to address existing inequality and poverty associated with poor mental health including proactive approaches to 'build back fairer' in the aftermath of the pandemic (Marmot et al., 2020). Prior to the pandemic, schools reported facing a number of barriers to providing effective mental health provision including a lack of capacity in CAMHS for referrals, limited capacity within school, and communication challenges with external services (Mansfield et al., 2021). More reactive approaches might therefore include better funding for schools and CAMHS (Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services), and better links between the two (Cortina et al., 2019, 2020). From this point of view, it is worth drawing attention to the Schools Link Programme that the Anna Freud National Centre for Children and Families are evaluating – a programme to encourage joint working between external mental health professionals and school staff to support young people's mental health: https://tinyurl.com/y6jehhfa. There is also COVID-related support for schools at https://www.annafreud.org/coronavirus-support/support-for-schools-and-colleges/.

To date, there is limited evidence around what works for UK schools in terms of implementing mental health and wellbeing interventions. Over the coming years, there will be emerging evidence from the Education for Wellbeing Programme, a DfE-funded programme consisting of two trials evaluating a range of mental health and wellbeing interventions. The programme is England's largest research trial of school-based mental health interventions and will evaluate the implementation, cost-effectiveness, and impact of a range of interventions on pupils' mental health and wellbeing. Trial protocols are published here:

https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/9/8/e029044.info

https://trialsjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s13063-019-3762-0

Findings: harms due to increased exposure to risk factors

Eleven studies were identified: three surveys (Children's Parliament, 2020; Khan and Mikuska, 2021; Mansfield et al, 2020), four using existing administrative datasets (NSPCC, 2020a; Garstang et al 2020; Mann et al 2021; NSPCC 2020b), one literature review (Proulx et al, 2021), two qualitative studies (McCluskey et al, 2021; Pearce & Miller, 2020) and a study using an action research design (Racher & Brodie, 2020).

Assessment of study quality

Some studies draw conclusions from large-scale surveys of relevant populations (Mansfield et al, 2020; Children's parliament [Scotland], 2020), while others are based on extensive reviews of existing literature (Proulx et al., 2021). Important and unique data from comparisons of Childline calls pre-Covid and during the crisis are also used in the NSPCC reports (NSPCC, 2020a; 2020b).

The less robust studies are based on smaller scale research, such as Khan and Mikuska (2021) which is based on 55 interviews with practitioners for children aged 3-8 from the first lockdown only, and Pearce and Miller (2020) which is based on analysis of webinars with safeguarding professionals with little explanation of how the data were analysed. In some cases, findings are extrapolated from one population (e.g. in one area) to the wider population (Mann et al, 2021; Garstang et al., 2020). These have nevertheless been included in the review as they cover topics not otherwise explored.

Nature and extent of harms due to increased exposure to risks

The eleven studies provide evidence of a combination of children's increased exposure to harms due to not being able to attend school, as well as highlighting the challenges of monitoring these harms without school attendance. A reduction in child protection medical assessments and referrals from schools provides evidence that school closures mean child abuse has in many cases remained hidden (Garstang et al., 2020). Some smaller scale research with young children suggests there have been challenges for professionals in monitoring safeguarding remotely (Khan & Mikuska, 2021). A small proportion (2%) of children in the Mansfield et al study cited above reported feeling unsafe at home (Mansfield et al., 2020). There is evidence from Childline that there has been increased reporting of sexual abuse by children (a three-fold increase in calls), including past abuse, due to children not being able to disclose this to their teachers and having more contact with abusers while at home (NSPCC, 2020a). Emotional, physical abuse and neglect are also reported as featuring in Childline calls (NSPCC, 2020b). However, expected increases in the number of children attending A&E for burns injuries due to abuse or injuries resulting from more time spent at home did not materialise according to one small study (Mann et al., 2021).

Research with safeguarding professionals indicates their concerns about continuing and undetected abuse of children within and outside of the home; about the changing nature of criminal exploitation; and about the strains created by social distancing on children in families experiencing problems with poor mental health, drug and alcohol misuse and domestic abuse (Pearce & Miller, 2020), though there are no estimates of how widespread these concerns are.

Surveys with children such as the Children's Parliament study in Scotland suggest that parents have increased financial worries (Children's Parliament 2020) while the NSPCC monitoring of calls also notes the issue of children' witnessing parents' arguments about

money. This is of concern as evidence suggests that there are links between parental stress and children's emotional regulation (Spinelli et al., 2021), with children in lower SES families more at risk (Pearcey et al., 2020).

In summary, although only a minority of children suffered from exposure to harms in this category, the number of incidents has increased due to lockdowns and school closures, and some harms are significant including increased risk of sexual abuse and criminal exploitation. Increased risk has been compounded by the challenges for safeguarding professionals.

Mitigations

Immediate responses

There is very little evidence in the research literature about how these harms can be mitigated against during periods of unscheduled school closure. Tentative findings from Racher and Brodie (2020) on the prevention of child exploitation and extra-familial harm during COVID are based on a scoping literature review and focus groups with staff from the Tackling Child Exploitation Support Programme, strategic leaders and professionals from different services. They suggest: first, there has been variation in approaches across different areas; second, there has been some innovation in digital methods and direct working with young people; and third, practical support has been integrated with other forms of service delivery. The authors comment that this emerging evidence should be used by strategic leaders as the basis for further interrogation of emerging data, along with the views of young people themselves and other staff. The quality and impact of new ways of working needs to be monitored.

The return to normal safeguarding procedures as children attend school will resolve some of the concerns raised in the literature. However, school staff may need to be particularly attentive to safeguarding issues, including disclosures of abuse during lockdown, in the recovery period.

Longer term change

Further research is necessary to assess the scale of the harms caused by school absence due to COVID-19, and the effectiveness of alternative methods of safeguarding. The scale of additional harm caused both by being at home and not being able to easily report abuse is not clear from the evidence at present. What is clear is the crucial role that schools play in safeguarding children, and the need for more robust connections between the different services that might be able to play a role in keeping children safe within their communities.

Findings: Harms to Physical Health, Nutrition and Development

Seventeen studies were identified all of which focused on harms to physical health and nutrition rather than on issues related to child development. The fact that the search strategy did not find an evidence base for harms caused to child development is likely to reflect the difficulties that researchers would find in collecting suitable data during the pandemic enabling such an assessment to be made. This underlines the importance of continuing to review harms as schools reopen. The seventeen studies included for the review consisted of seven surveys (Jester (2021); Mansfield et al (2020); Marchant (2020); Parentkind (2020b); Parnham (2020); Social Market Foundation; Theis (2021)), nine based on analyses of administrative data (Brown (2021); The food Foundation (2020); Garstang et al (2020); Magic Breakfast (2020); Mann et al (2021); NSPCC (2020a); NSPCC (2020b); Scottish Govt (2020); Sparks (2021)), one based on longitudinal data (Sugand (2020)) and one literature review (Lopez-Bueno (2020)).

Quality assessment of studies

The quality of studies was variable, as was the coverage of key themes. For instance, we had to turn to the grey literature to find any evidence of impacts on nutrition, not documented elsewhere but which we knew from our own previous research, based on a representative sample of schools (Moss, et al., 2020), was a significant harm for many pupils, and one to which schools were very quick to respond. Accordingly, amongst the included studies are some from campaigning organisations using self-selecting samples, which under other circumstances might not have been included. In our expert view the limited amount of evidence collected or sought reflects the lack of recognition given to the crucial role schools play in supporting children, particularly in our most vulnerable communities, on aspects of social life that are crucial building blocks for educational attainment: health, welfare and wellbeing. If the COVID-19 crisis has shown anything it is that these essential building blocks really matter, and that children cannot function properly in school without them. Maslow's hierarchy of needs is a key reference point that should guide any further analysis of how schools can help children recover from COVID-19.

Nature and Extent of Harms to Physical Health and Nutrition

Food insecurity and declines in physical exercise were the most prominent harms recorded in the papers reviewed for this theme. Studies addressing physical exercise relied on survey data. Bearing in mind the potential weakness of self-report methods, surveys in the UK (Jester & Kang, 2021, Mansfield et al., 2020) found children reporting declines in the amounts of physical exercise they were undertaking during school closures. In the largest survey (19,000 participants, Mansfield et al., 2020) pupils in years 8-10 were most likely to report doing less exercise (over 50%). Set against this, roughly a third of students in years 4 to 11, reported increasing the amount of exercise they were doing (Mansfield et al., 2020). In a survey of 125 parents and carers of children with physical or intellectual disabilities (Theis et al., 2021), parents reported their children had done less physical activity during lockdown, with the main reasons being a lack of access to facilities, activities and equipment.

A more substantial body of evidence shows the impacts of food insecurity on children eligible for free school meals (FSM). The Coronavirus wave of the UK Household Longitudinal Study, conducted in April 2020, found that in the month after the first lockdown 49% of eligible children did not receive any form of FSMs. They also reported that the voucher scheme the government had put in place was not adequately serving those

children who could not attend school. Many families relying on income-related benefits reported a need to access foodbanks. The Trussell Trust recorded increases in demand for emergency food parcels of 81% during the first weeks of the first lockdown compared to the previous year. In a survey conducted by Opinium on behalf of the Social Market Foundation, 16% of parents said that between March and September 2020 their children had had to make do with smaller portions, skip meals or go a day without eating. Parents working in sectors badly hit by the economic shutdown (hospitality, leisure, retail and construction) were most affected (Bhattacharya and Shepherd, 2020). COVID-19 has revealed very sharply the precarious situation in which many families on low incomes live, and the key role schools have in ensuring children are adequately fed. Food insecurity and the stress it causes both families and children have been found to have a direct link to lower attainment (see for example, Jyoti et al., 2005).

A few papers, drawing on administrative data, did describe gains. As reported above, separate studies reported reductions in the number of children seen in hospital before and after the first lockdown (March 2020), for burns recorded in one hospital (Mann et al., 2021) and in acute paediatric trauma referrals in another (Sugand et al., 2020). Reasons for the reductions are not altogether clear, however, and researchers caution that lockdown may have led to under reporting. A report on traffic-related pollution, based on Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) monitoring at road sites near nurseries and schools, found a significant reduction in concentrations of NO2 resulting from the lower traffic levels and concluded from this that there would be a potential reduction in child exposure (Brown et al., 2021).

Mitigations

Immediate responses

Research conducted in June 2020 by members of this review team and already published (Moss et al., 2020) using a survey with a weighted sample, showed that school staff were already aware from the start of the first lockdown that food insecurity affected their pupils, with schools serving low SES catchment areas most preoccupied by this issue. All schools surveyed were making considerable efforts to support families affected, either drawing on their own resources or by putting families in touch with others who could help. Research in progress by the same team (yet to be published) indicates that primary school staff recognised the need for physical exercise to be part of their curriculum for children isolating at home during lockdown and have also made it a priority as children return to school in 2021. We are aware that comparatively little data have been collected directly from schools about their actions during the pandemic, and find the mitigation strategies that schools have already put in place, responding directly to the needs they were aware of, under-reported. This is an important deficit in the evidence base which needs addressing.

Longer term change

School closures during the pandemic have thrown a sharp spotlight on the effects of poverty and food insecurity on children. The extent to which many families rely on the contribution schools make has become very apparent. Those collecting evidence on these issues during COVID-19 have highlighted in their findings and recommendations for future action the need for national policy change. This should bring more funding to schools working in the most deprived areas (EPI, 2021) and addressing food insecurity faced by families in our most deprived communities, not least by changing the ways the benefit system, low wages and job insecurity put so many families at risk.

Other harms

A survey of parents of children with SEND, recorded an increase in challenging behaviours, and recorded parents' concern at a loss of social contact and routine (Parentkind, (2020b). There are studies which focus on the impact on children of parenting changes such as fathers' increased involvement in caregiving (Proulx et al., 2021), which we expect to be covered by the parents and carers review and so have not considered here. The only other harm found in our review beyond the areas identified above was the data security risk involved in school-based COVID-19 testing, as noted in a study based on 50 interviews with parents, staff and students (Lorenc et al., 2020).

DISCUSSION

This review asked:

What is the current research evidence on: (i) the harms created by school closure during the COVID-19 pandemic on primary and lower secondary school children; (ii) mitigations for these harms that have been: (a) used during the current pandemic or (b) used elsewhere to address harms arising from similar periods of educational disruption and with potential to be transferable.

The four themes where harm to primary and lower secondary pupils was identified were learning and attainment; mental health and wellbeing; increased exposure to risks and harms in the domestic setting; and physical health and nutrition. These clearly merit attention going forward and are key areas that will require mitigation, if at different scales and over different timeframes.

In some cases, the evidence we reviewed highlighted key social and structural issues that require policy attention at a national level, leading to increases in funding, and potentially structural re-organization to bring the right support services into the frame and encourage more joined up partnership working to support schools and families. The review also highlighted areas of uncertainty, in part due to the limitations of the methodologies adopted in some studies, and the timeframe in which evidence is being sought. There is a need to take better stock at the start of 2022 of impacts that may endure or be remedied in that timeframe.

From our review of the harms caused, we suggest that appropriate mitigations may best be identified by equipping schools to assess more carefully the extent of harms in different areas (physical health and nutrition as well as mental health and attainment), and conversely, any potential gains for different individuals as they return to school. We foresee from the evidence we have reviewed that schools may need to distinguish more clearly between what the pattern of short-term harms are that may right themselves, as normal teaching and learning in school resumes; and the nature of more longer lasting harms that particular individuals may have suffered and that require long-term support.

We note that the mitigations currently offered to schools by external sources, in the form of interventions, come with varying evidence of their efficacy; and as they predate the pandemic, will not have been designed with the kind of educational disruption children have been through in mind. Without distinguishing between short and longer-term effects, this may lead to over-prescription of interventions tailored to a smaller group of individuals who might face difficulties under normal conditions, rather than to a larger group who may recover without specialized support. The most robust evidence available from the USA on recovery from the effects of school closure due to COVID-19 certainly indicates that impacts on attainment may be larger on maths than on reading, and that recovery is likely to be non-linear (Johnson et al., 2021; Kuhfeld et al., 2020).

Given the uncertainties in the evidence base stemming directly from COVID-19 and its impacts on education in the UK, due to timing and availability, there are reasons to look more widely at the literature on disaster recovery in education, stemming from other natural disasters in other national settings. We have used our existing overview of this literature for this report as it provides robust evidence on how schools have recovered from similar periods of disruption in other countries and at other recent times (see

Harmey and Moss, 2020) see also Eyre, 2006). High quality research studies of education recovery after a period of disruption, identified in Harmey and Moss (2020), counsel against thinking of catch-up as a short-term fix, but rather highlight the need to plan for recovery with the whole school community, both through the curriculum and by putting care at the heart of local leadership. Schools will benefit from thinking in the round about what their communities most need and finding ways to take any specific contextual and regional factors into account, rather than relying on centrally-driven planning and one-size-fits-all solutions.

We note that there are some striking omissions in the database of studies reviewed. In particular, there are very few studies already published that document or record the mitigation strategies that schools themselves put in place during the pandemic, derived from their first-hand experience of dealing with the problems that the disruption to schooling caused within their own communities and the families and children they serve. By contrast, Moss et al (2020) documents how schools were responding during the first lockdown and what they anticipated would be most helpful to them going forward, at that early stage in the pandemic. Moss et al (2021) explored the role teacher assistants were playing in supporting learners through the autumn term 2020 and January 2021 lockdown. With funding from the ESRC the same team are now engaged in a small-scale qualitative study looking at how schools have continued to adapt in the light of the crisis, using different strategies to identify harms to learning and wellbeing and from that devise mitigation strategies themselves. We are unusual in the academic field in being committed to fast turnaround studies that can report quickly. Others researching this area may simply not yet have published.

In such unexpected and novel circumstances that the crisis created for schools, it is in fact teachers themselves and school leaders who have formed the most in-depth view of the harms to children's wellbeing and to their learning. Without their insights, centralized prescriptions for recovery may have very little value. This hypothesis is very much supported by the broader disaster recovery literature which suggests local knowledge is paramount (Mutch, 2014). Without taking local knowledge into account, the disaster literature finds much well-intentioned support from afar may not actually match local needs, and indeed waste money by channelling it to the wrong resources and the wrong targets.

Strengths and limitations of the review

Like any study this review has strengths and limitations. In the light of the studies we reviewed, we consider the limitations primarily stem from the timing of this review. Ideally, we would have restricted our search to manuscripts from peer-reviewed journals. Given the time it takes to get published this was too restrictive and so we widened our search to grey literature and third-sector publications. This did impact the methodological quality of some of the papers we reviewed. However, we suggest, that a strength of this review is that we drew on evidence from organisations that have close connections with, and knowledge of, the populations at risk. This is a valuable resource as it is more likely to include the voices of those at risk.

Methodological limitations of the papers reviewed included the size and representativeness of samples and the variable quality of survey instruments. Many surveys relied on the opinion of parents and teachers to infer potential harms, and treated this as evidence for

them. Another limitation stemming from the timing of this review is that it may be too early to accurately assess harms at this point in time. (See our comments on study quality above for more details on these points.) It may be that children have been impacted in a variety of ways that have yet to manifest. It is also difficult, methodologically, to isolate harms to mental health which are due to the COVID-19 event and those which may have happened anyway, developmentally or indeed, to a particular at-risk group.

That being said, a strength of our review is that it provides a useful guide to the main harms likely to have been experienced, and an estimate, to the best of our knowledge, of the short-term harms to children. This provides a useful benchmark for future longitudinal research. A strength of several of the studies we reviewed was the utilisation of large longitudinal datasets. We suggest that future research utilising these datasets will provide reliable evidence of short-, medium- and long-term harms. We recommend that such studies be enhanced by more in-depth qualitative case studies that could illuminate the issues as they affect schools working in different contexts, where the uneven impacts from COVID-19 itself on different communities can be focused on at greater depth. We think qualitative studies of the mitigation strategies schools themselves have devised to meet local community needs are a priority, as they are most likely to contribute effectively to learning from this disaster and preparing for any further period of sustained educational disruption.

CONCLUSIONS

Our review of the available studies, based on evidence collected and analysed during the pandemic, has indicated that the main harms from COVID-19 on primary and lower secondary pupils will fall into these categories: learning and attainment; mental health and wellbeing; increased exposure to risks and harms in the domestic setting; and physical health and nutrition. Although impacts on learning and attainment and on mental health and wellbeing have attracted most research attention, we consider that impacts on physical health and nutrition and on safeguarding merit more notice than they have currently received. They are likely to have had particular impact in our most vulnerable communities. In many communities, schools play a crucial role in safeguarding pupils, yet have been hampered from offering this kind of crucial support while pupils were unable to access the school site, despite the various mitigation strategies they will have put in place.

The evidence suggests that equipping schools with the appropriate tools to diagnose needs across the spectrum of harms will be fundamental to planning efficiently and appropriately for recovery. It will also be useful inform local decision-making on how that funding should be spent. Our review finds evidence of harms not just on learning attainment but also on physical health, mental health and wellbeing, and increased exposure to risks at home. Being ready to learn depends on addressing pupils' basic needs across this range of likely harms. Schools understand this. To close the attainment gap, they will require the resources that enable them to meet those primary needs over the medium to longer term. The evidence from our review recognises the importance of increasing funding in particular to schools serving our most deprived communities and allowing them to spend the money according to the needs recognized in their context as most urgent.

REFERENCES

Achterberg, M., Dobbelaar, S., Boer, O.D. and Crone, E.A., 2021. Perceived stress as mediator for longitudinal effects of the COVID-19 lockdown on wellbeing of parents and children. *Scientific reports*, 11(1), pp.1-14.

Alvarez, D. (2010). "I Had To Teach Hard": Traumatic Conditions and Teachers in Post-Katrina Classrooms. *High School Journal*, **94**(1), 28–39.

Bakker, A., Cai, J., English, L., Kaiser, G., Mesa, V., & Van Dooren, W. (2019). Beyond small, medium, or large: points of consideration when interpreting effect sizes. *Educational Studies in Mathematics* **102**, 1–8 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10649-019-09908-4

Barrett, E. J., Ausbrooks, C. Y. B., & Martinez-Cosio, M. (2012). The Tempering Effect of Schools on Students Experiencing a Life-Changing Event: Teenagers and the Hurricane Katrina Evacuation. *Urban Education*, **47**(1), 7–31.

Cortina, M. A. (2020) A public health response to mental health. In Taylor, E., Verhulst, F. C., Wong, J., and Yoshida, K. (eds), Mental Health and Illness of Children and Adolescents. Springer Nature, Singapore, pp. 1–12.

Cortina, M., Niebieszczanski, G., Costa da Silva, L., Town, R., Smith, J. and Wolpert, M. (2019) Mental health services and schools and colleges link programme 2017-19. https://www.annafreud.org/media/9877/dfe-mhssclp-final-report-april2019final.pdf

Education Endowment Foundation (EEF) (2021). Impact Toolkit. Retrieved online from. https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/evidence-summaries/about-the-toolkits/attainment/

Education Policy Institute (2021) Education Recovery And Resilience In England: Phase One Report. Downloaded: https://epi.org.uk/publications-and-research/education-recovery-and-resilience-in-england/

Eyre, A. (2006) Literature And Best Practice Review And Assessment: Identifying People's Needs In Major Emergencies And Best Practice In Humanitarian Response. London: DCMS. Download:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/86357/ha_literature_review.pdf

Fink, E., Patalay, P., Sharpe, H., Holley, S., Deighton, J. and Wolpert, M., 2015. Mental health difficulties in early adolescence: a comparison of two cross-sectional studies in England from 2009 to 2014. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *56*(5), pp.502-507.

Fletcher, J. & Nicholas, K. (2016) What can school principals do to support students and their learning during and after natural disasters? *Educational Review*, **68**(3), 358-374, DOI: 10.1080/00131911.2015.1114467

Harmey, S. and Moss, G. (2020) Learning Loss versus Learning Disruption: Written evidence submitted by the International Literacy Centre, UCL, Institute of Education, to the Education Select Committee Inquiry into the impact of COVID-19. Downloaded: https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/12497/pdf/

Howat, H., Curtis, N., Landry, S., Farmer, K., Kroll, T., & Douglass, J. (2012). Lessons from Crisis Recovery in Schools: How Hurricanes Impacted Schools, Families and the Community. School Leadership & Management, **32**(5), 487–501

Johnson, A., Kuhfeld, M., & Tarasawa, B. (2021). How did students fare relative to the COVID-19 learning loss projections? Retrieved online from

 $\underline{https://perspectivesblog.sagepub.com/blog/research/how-did-students-fare-relative-to-\underline{the-covid-19-learning-loss-projections}}$

Jyoti, D.F., Frongillo, D.E., Jones, S.J (2005) Food Insecurity Affects School Children's Academic Performance, Weight Gain, and Social Skills. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 135: 12, Pages 2831–2839, https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/135.12.2831

Kessler, R.C., Berglund, P., Demler, O., Jin, R., Merikangas, K.R. and Walters, E.E., 2005. Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Archives of general psychiatry*, 62(6), pp.593-602.

Kuhfeld, M. (2019). Surprising new evidence on summer learning loss. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 101(1), 25–29. https://doi.org/10.1177/0031721719871560

Kuhfeld, M., Tarasawa, B., Johnson, A., Ruzek, E., & Lewis, K. (2020). Learning during COVID-19: Initial findings on students' reading and math achievement and growth. *NWEA*, *November*.

Kuhfeld, M., & Tarasawa, B. (2020). The COVID-19 slide: What summer learning loss can tell us about the potential impact of school closures on student academic achievement (The Collaborative for Student Growth NWEA White Paper).

https://www.nwea.org/research/publication/the-covid-19-slide-what-summer-learningloss-can-tell-us-about-the-potential-impact-of-school-closures-onstudent-academic-achievement/

Harmey, S. and Moss, G. (2020) Learning Loss versus Learning Disruption: Written evidence submitted by the International Literacy Centre, UCL, Institute of Education, to the Education Select Committee Inquiry into the impact of COVID-19. Downloaded: https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/12497/pdf/

Mansfield R, Humphrey N, Patalay P. Educators' perceived mental health literacy and capacity to support students' mental health: associations with school-level characteristics and provision in England. Health Promot Int. 2021 Mar 1:daabo10. doi: 10.1093/heapro/daabo10. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 33667299.

Marmot, M., Allen, J., Goldblatt, P., Herd, E. & Morrison, J. Build Back Fairer: The Covid-19 Marmot Review. 1-221 (2020) as a broad mitigation approach.

Moss, G., Webster, R., Harmey, S., and Bradbury, A. (2021) *Unsung Heroes: The role of teaching assistants and classroom assistants in keeping schools functioning during lockdown*. London: UCL Institute of Education https://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/id/eprint/10125467/

Moss, G; Allen, R; Bradbury, A; Duncan, S; Harmey, S; Levy, R; (2020) *Primary teachers'* experience of the COVID-19 lockdown – Eight key messages for policymakers going forward. UCL Institute of Education: London,

UK. https://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/id/eprint/10103669/

Mutch, C. (2014) The role of schools in disaster preparedness, response and recovery: what can we learn from the literature?, *Pastoral Care in Education*, 32:1, 5-22, DOI:10.1080/02643944.2014.880123

O'Connor, P. & Takahashi, N., (2014). From caring about to caring for: case studies of New Zealand and Japanese schools post disaster. *Pastoral Care in Education: The Place of Pastoral Care in Disaster Contexts*, **32**(1), pp.42–53.

Patalay, P. and Gage, S.H., 2019. Changes in millennial adolescent mental health and health-related behaviours over 10 years: a population cohort comparison study. *International journal of epidemiology*, 48(5), pp.1650-1664.

Roland, D., Harwood, R., Bishop. N., Hargreaves, D., Patel, S. and Sinha, I. (2020) Children's emergency presentations during the COVID-19 pandemic. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health*, Volume 4, Issue 8, e32 - e33 https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanchi/article/PIIS2352-4642(20)30206-6/fulltext

Sadler, K., Vizard, T., Ford, T., Marchesell, F., Pearce, N., Mandalia, D., Davis, J., Brodie, E., Forbes, N., Goodman, A. and Goodman, R., 2018. Mental health of children and young people in England, 2017.

Seeger, M.W., Sellnow, T.L. and Ulmer, R.R. 1998. Communication, organization, and crisis. *Communication Yearbook*, 21: 231–275.

Shemilt I, Gough D, Thomas J, Stansfield C, Bangpan M, Brunton J, Dickson K, Graziosi S, Hull P, Kneale D, Muraki S, Ramadani F, Vigurs C (2021). Living map of systematic reviews of social sciences research evidence on COVID-19. London: EPPI Centre, UCL Social Research Institute, University College London.)

Sims, S. (2020) **Briefing note: School absences and pupil achievement,** Centre for Education Policy and Equalising Opportunities (CEPEO) https://repeccepeo.ucl.ac.uk/cepeob/cepeobn1.pdf

Stuart, K. L., Patterson, L. G., Johnston, D. M., & Peace, R. (2013). Managing Temporary School Closure Due to Environmental Hazard: Lessons from New Zealand. *Management in Education*, **27**(1), 25–31.

Thomas, J., Graziosi, S., Brunton, J., Ghouze, Z., O'Driscoll, P., & Bond, M. (2020). *EPPI-Reviewer: advanced software for systematic reviews, maps and evidence synthesis*. EPPI-Centre Software. London: UCL Social Research Institute.

Thomas, J., Newman, M. and Oliver, S. (2013). Rapid evidence assessments of research to inform social policy: taking stock and moving forward. *Evidence & Policy*, 9:1, pp. 5–27.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Methods

Inclusion criteria

- **1) Stage 1a: identifying harms** we included studies of any research design provided they were:
 - Published since November 2019
 - Related to COVID-19
 - Reported data UK or/and Northern Ireland populations
 - Reported empirical evidence
 - Reported data collected on children aged 4 to 16 years
 - Reported data collected from a community or hospital setting
 - Reported data on impact of primary and/or lower secondary school closure.

Stage 1b: We also included synthesis review documents calculating harms to education published by international organisations.

- **2) Stage 2: identifying mitigations** we searched for systematic reviews that aimed to mitigate the harms identified in the first part of the review, both short-term mitigation of harms identified and longer-term adaption to prevent the harms. Studies were included if they were:
 - Published with any date
 - Related to identified harms
 - Reported data collected from any geographical area
 - Reported data collected from a relevant population
 - Reported data collected from a relevant setting.

If more than one systematic review was found for each harm or sub-harm, we selected the most appropriate review as follows:

- The most up to date systematic review to avoid double counting individual studies included in reviews as well as choosing the most up to date findings
- The systematic review most relevant/ transferrable in terms of population, contexts and topics.
- The systematic review or reviews that were most likely to have trustworthy reliable findings based on a quality assessment of the execution of the review.

Search strategy

Since we were aware that relatively little relevant evidence had been published we searched for both published and 'grey' literature as follows:

Stage 1: search for harms:

Bibliographic databases

One reviewer (CV) searched Proquest Central, SCOPUS, and Google Scholar from database inception using search terms that were specific to our population and education type, plus terms for COVID and UK to find studies on the nature and extent of the harms.

The search terms used are in Appendix 2.

Hand searches for grey literature

One reviewer (CV) also searched the <u>IPPO Living Map</u> which is updated monthly with newly published systematic reviews relating to the COVID-19 pandemic (Shemilt et al., 2021).

One reviewer (BC) hand-searched Google for UK organizations relevant to the education sector and searched the websites of identified organizations for reports that met the above inclusion criteria. See Appendix 2.

BC also searched for synthesis review documents calculating harms to education published by *known* international organisations.

GM and BC hand-searched for relevant evidence submitted to the UK Parliament.

Stage 2: search for systematic reviews of mitigations:

CV and BC hand-searched the following databases for relevant systematic reviews for harms identified:

- The Cochrane Library
- The Campbell Collaboration
- The Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects (DARE)
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE)
- World Health Organization (WHO)

As the populations covered in the reviews yielded by these searches (see Appendix x) proved not to be sufficiently relevant to harms identified in the first stage of this review, BC searched EBSCO and Google for reviews on education strategies following unplanned school closures, for example, due to disasters such as hurricanes or earthquakes. She also checked Google Scholar for new evidence from studies citing references used in the written evidence submitted by the topic experts of this review to the Education Select Committee Inquiry into the impact of COVID-19 on education and children's services, July 2020 (https://www.ucl.ac.uk/ioe/departments-and-centres/centres/international-literacy-centre/duty-care-and-duty-teach-educational-priorities-response-covid-19-crisis/reports-and-publications). See Table 3 for a summary of the search process.

Table 3 Overview of searches for evidence on mitigations

Source searched and terms used	Date searched	Number of references identified
Dedicated review databases (Cochrane, Campbell, Dare), WHO and NICE Focus on children or if database large (children and harms review identified)	17/5/21	23
EBSCO, date limited and peer review articles only. Terms used: (School closing OR school reopening or school closure or school or education or lockdown) and (Hurricane Katrina or Katrina or disaster or natural disasters or influenza or pandemic or epidemic or outbreak or disaster preparedness or covid or covid 19)	19/5/21	507
Google search Terms used: interruption disruption education training disasters crisis	19/5/21	14
Google Scholar - search for references in report to Education Select Committee Inquiry	20/5/21	22

Screening references

To expedite the screening process citations were uploaded initially to Excel and later to EPPI-Reviewer Web (Thomas et al., 2020) as this allowed further coding of the data.

Screening of citations relating to harms was undertaken by all reviewers. To ensure consistency some citations were checked by two reviewers. Disagreements were discussed and, where necessary, inclusion criteria adjusted. A Prisma diagram showing the flow of citations through the review process is in Appendix 3.

Data extraction of key characteristics

A full-text copy of each study which met inclusion criteria was uploaded into EPPI-Reviewer Web. The following data were extracted:

- Authors
- · Year of publication
- · Study Design
- o Survey
- o RCT
- o Quasi-experimental
- o Case study
- o Other

- CountryUK

o Not UK

- Setting
- o Primary
- o Secondary
- Publication type
- o Peer-reviewed journal publication
- o Organisational publication
- o Government publication
- o Pre-publication
- o Blog
- o News Article
- · Mitigation
- · Findings
- · Outcome measures
- Harms
- o Mental Health and Wellbeing (Study findings were related to the detrimental effoct of COVID on mental health and wellbeing)
- o Physical health, nutrition and development (Study findings were related to physical health, nutrition, and development)
- o Learning and teaching experiences (Study findings are related to the detrimental effect of COVID on amount/ modes of teaching/ opportunities to learn, with knock- on effects on attainment and socialization/ transitions)
- o Increased exposure to risk factors at home (Study findings are related to the detrimental effect of COVID on exposure to Misuse of Substances / Domestic Violence / Bereavement/ Material disbenefits of poverty (overcrowding, lack of access to outdoor space) /Screen time (excessive inappropriate)/ safeguarding)
- o Other harm.

All reviewers undertook data extraction and checked each other's work to ensure consistency and accuracy.

Quality appraisal of studies

Each review topic expert was assigned a themed area on the basis of their expertise to assess studies for quality and relevance. This was a two-step process:

- a) The quality criteria used across the wider study and regarded as appropriate to determining the quality of studies adopting different methodologies;
- b) Assessing the relevance of the design and its execution for assessing harms from the patterns of disruption to education stemming from COVID, understood as an event impacting on different aspects of children's social life and educational experiences.

Each reviewer recorded their judgements on both aspects of the studies they reviewed. This led to a final list of included studies. The quality and relevance of the designs of included and excluded studies was a matter of discussion between the review topic experts to ensure consistency.

The following questions were used to assess each study's quality:

What does the evidence claim? Please specify:

1. I	S	the	nat	ure	and	extent	of	the	claim	relev	vant	to	your	revi	ew?

- $\circ \quad Yes$
- o No
- $\circ \quad Partly \\$
- o Unclear

2. Is the evidence claim trustworthy in using a relevant method to achieve that evidence claim?

- o Yes
- o No
- o Partly
- o Unclear

3. Is the evidence claim relevant in terms of how its focus (how it applied the method such as for eg questions asked, outcome measures etc) to address the study question and make the claim?

- o Yes
- o No
- o Partly
- o Unclear

- 4. Are there any aspect of the execution of the study methods that undermine your confidence in the trustworthiness of the claims being made? Indicate any concerns below for all the method specific questions below (for systematic reviews)
 - (i) Please specify under the relevant methods specific question and summarize here:
 - o (ii) Please state whether these undermine the evidence claim:
 - Yes
 - No
 - Partly
 - Unclear

Appendix 2: Search Strategies

Primary years search strings

Proquest Central searches - run 26/4/21

Ti(COVID-19 OR "coronavirus 2019" OR "SARS-Cov-2" OR "nCov-2019") OR ab(COVID-19 OR "coronavirus 2019" OR "SARS-Cov-2" OR "nCov-2019")

Changed to pandemic for sars-cov-2 and ncov-2019

AND

Ti("years 4-11" OR "4-11 years" OR "year 1" OR "Year 2" OR "year 3" OR "year 4" OR "year 5" OR "year 6") OR ab("years 4-11" OR "4-11 years" OR "year 1" OR "Year 2" OR "year 3" OR "year 4" OR "year 5" OR "year 6")

OR

Ti(Elementary OR "early years" OR "Primary school" OR "primary schools" OR reception OR "first school" OR "foundation stage" OR "foundation primary" OR "key stage o" OR "key stage 1" OR "key stage 2") OR ab(Elementary OR "early years" OR "Primary school" OR "primary schools" OR reception OR "first school" OR "foundation stage" OR "foundation primary" OR "key stage o" OR "key stage 1" OR "key stage 2")

OR mainsubject.exact "primary schools"

Returns 1,901

FILTER: UK 66

Scopus searches – run 26/4/21

TITLE-ABS (covid-19 OR "coronavirus 2019" OR "SARS-Cov-2" OR "nCov-2019")

AND

TITLE-ABS("years 4-11" OR "4-11 years" OR "year 1" OR "Year 2" OR "year 3" OR "year 4" OR "year 5" OR "year 6")

TITLE-ABS(Elementary OR "early years" OR "Primary school" OR "primary schools" OR reception OR "first school" OR "foundation stage" OR "foundation primary" OR "key stage o" OR "key stage 1" OR "key stage 2"

Returns 464

FILTER UK 49

Google scholar – run 26/4/21

covid19 AND "years 4-11" OR "4-11 years" OR "year 1" OR "Year 2" OR "year 3" OR "year 4" OR "year 5" OR "year 6" OR "Elementary school" OR "early years" OR "Primary school" OR "reception year" OR "first school" OR "foundation stage" OR "foundation primary"

7,830

Searched 1st 25 pages

95 results

IPPO Map - run 26/4/21

Elementary school" OR "early years" OR "Primary school" OR "reception year" OR "first school" OR "foundation stage" OR "foundation primary" 41

Handsearching Google – various dates

Organizations found in the Google search results based on synonyms for Covid19, student impact OR research UK

Centre for Economic Performance

Education Policy Institute

Institute for Fiscal studies

NFER

Nuffield Foundation

NIHR

Mental Health Foundation Scotland,

NFER

Scottish government

Sutton Trust

UK government

UKRI

Youngminds

5,000+ results, 1st 20 pages scanned

Pupil engagement in remote learning $\frac{https://mkonuffieldfounpg9ee.kinstacdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/NFER -$

schools responses to covid 19 pupil engagement in remote learning.pdf

Support for vulnerable pupils and the children of keyworkers.

https://mkonuffieldfounpg9ee.kinstacdn.com/wp-

content/uploads/2020/06/schools responses to covid 19 support for vulnerable pupils and the childr en of keyworkerspdf.pdf

The challenges facing schools and pupils in September 2020 https://mkonuffieldfounpg9ee.kinstacdn.com/wp-

content/uploads/2020/09/schools responses to covid 19 the challenges facing schools and pupils in september 2020.pdf

UK gov - Evidence summary: COVID-19 - children, young people and education settings

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/9636 39/DfE_Evidence_summary_COVID-19 - children__voung_people_and_education_settings.pdf

Scottish gov. COVID-19: Children, young people and families

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/research-and-analysis/2020/11/report-covid-19-children-young-people-families-september-2020-evidence-summary/documents/covid-19-children-young-people-families-september-2020-evidence-summary/govscot%3Adocument/covid-19-children-young-people-families-september-2020-evidence-summary.pdf?forceDownload=true

LSE CEP Covid-19 school shutdowns: What will they do to our children's education?

https://cep.lse.ac.uk/pubs/download/cepcovid-19-001.pdf

IFS Inequalities in children's experiences of home learning during the COVID-19 lockdown in England

 $\frac{https://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/publications/wps/WP202026-Inequalities-childrens-experiences-home-learning-during-COVID-19-lockdown-England.pdf$

whole web page UK gov

COVID-19_ mental health and wellbeing surveillance report - GOV.UK

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-mental-health-and-wellbeing-surveillance-report

NIHR Young People's Mental Health during the COVID-19 Pandemic https://sphr.nihr.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Young-Peoples-Mental-Health-during-the-COVID-19-Pandemic-Report-Final.pdf

EPI Preventing the disadvantage gap from increasing

https://epi.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/EPI-Policy-paper-Impact-of-Covid-19_docx.pdf

 $parliament - Hansard \underline{https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2020-12-07/debates/4FFF63BD-3E7E-4CD6-A1B1-1A8400F88AD8/Covid-19ImpactOnSchoolsAndExams \\ Webpage only$

Mental health foundation, Scotland

Impacts of lockdown on the mental health and wellbeing of children and young people https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/sites/default/files/MHF%20Scotland%20Impacts%20of%20Lockdown.pdf

 $Sutton\ trust\ -SOCIAL\ MOBILITY\ AND\ COVID-19\ \underline{https://www.suttontrust.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/COVID-19-and-Social-Mobility-1.pdf}$

Young minds

Impact – survey with teachers

 $\underline{https://youngminds.org.uk/resources/policy-reports/what-impact-is-the-covid-19-pandemic-having-one-ducation/}\\$

Ongoing

REACH study to investigate the impact of COVID-19 on mental health in young people

An existing King's College London project that is researching the mental health of young people from diverse backgrounds and inner-city areas will be tailoring its next wave of data collection to understand how the COVID-19 pandemic and related public health measures are affecting these young people.

UKRI/ ESRC funded research projects at UCL

https://www.ucl.ac.uk/ioe/research/covid-19-research-ucl-institute-education/research-related-covid-19

Lower secondary years search strings

Proguest Central – run 13/5/21

Ti("Lower secondary" OR "Junior secondary" OR "secondary school" OR "middle school" OR GCSE OR "Grade 6" OR "Grade 7" OR "Grade 8" OR "Grade 9" OR "Grades 6-9" OR "grades 6-9" OR "Year 6" OR "year 7" OR "Year 8" OR "Year 9" OR "Years 6-9" OR "Level 2 Education" OR "Key stage 3" OR "Key stage 4" OR P6 OR P7 OR P8 OR P9) OR ab("Lower secondary" OR "Junior secondary" OR "secondary school" OR "middle school" OR GCSE OR "Grade 6" OR "Grade 7" OR "Grade 8" OR "Grade 9" OR "Grades 6-9" OR "grades 6-9" OR "Year 6" OR "year 7" OR "Year 8" OR "Year 9" OR "Years 6-9" OR "Level 2 Education" OR "Key stage 3" OR "Key stage 4" OR P6 OR P7 OR P8 OR P9)

MAINSUBJECT.EXACT("Secondary schools") OR MAINSUBJECT.EXACT("Secondary school students") OR MAINSUBJECT.EXACT("Secondary education")

AND

Ti(COVID-19 OR "coronavirus 2019" OR "SARS-Cov-2" OR "nCov-2019") OR ab(COVID-19 OR "coronavirus 2019" OR "SARS-Cov-2" OR "nCov-2019")

Results

5,448

FILTER UK: 108

Deduplicated 79

SCOPUS - run 13/5/21

TITLE-ABS-KEY("Lower secondary" OR "Junior secondary" OR "secondary school" OR "secondaries" OR "secondary education" OR "middle school" OR GCSE OR GCSES OR "Grade 6" OR "Grade 7" OR "Grade 8" OR "Grade 9" OR "Grades 6-9" OR "Year 6" OR "year 7" OR "Year 8" OR "Year 9" OR "Years 6-9" OR "Level 2 Education" OR "Key stage 3" OR "Key stage 4" OR P6 OR P7 OR P8 OR P9)

And

TITLE-ABS-KEY(COVID19 OR "coronavirus 2019" OR "SARS-Cov-2" OR "nCov-2019")

```
Results 2,041
UK 258
Google scholar – run 13/5/21
Covid19 and (secondary education OR secondary school OR middle school or year 7 or year
8 or year 9)
211,000 results
108
1<sup>st</sup> 35 pages searched
IPPO Map Database – run 13/5/21
33
"junior secondary" o
"Lower secondary" 3
GCSEs o
Years 7-11 0
Year 7-11 0
Secondary education 5
Secondary school 27
Middle school 6
```

Additional search undertaken in ProQuest combining Primary and Lower Secondary — run 12/5/21

Search string for the broad school* only combined search terms:

S9	<u>s7 and s3</u> Limits applied Scholarly articles	ProQuest Central	425
S8	<u>s7 and s3</u>	ProQuest Central	4,749
S7	<u>S6 and S1</u>	ProQuest Central	147,089
S6	<u>s2 or s4 or s5</u>	ProQuest Central	23,821,241
S5	MAINSUBJECT.EXACT ("Schools") OR (MAINSUBJECT.EXACT ("Elementary school students") OR MAINSUBJECT.EXACT ("Students") OR MAINSUBJECT.EXACT ("Middle school students"))	ProQuest Central	3,982,860
S4	MAINSUBJECT.EXACT("Schools")	ProQuest Central	745,919
S3	ti(UK OR United Kingdom OR Britain OR British OR England OR English OR Scotland OR Scottish OR wales OR welsh OR "northern Ireland" OR "Northern Irish") OR ab(UK OR United Kingdom OR Britain OR British OR England OR English OR Scotland OR Scottish OR wales OR welsh OR "northern Ireland" OR "Northern Irish")	ProQuest Central	18,830,826
S2	ti(school*) or ab(School*)	ProQuest Central	21,465,535
S1	ti(covid-19 OR Covid OR lockdown OR pandemic or Coronavirus) or ab(covid-19 OR Covid OR lockdown OR pandemic or Coronavirus)		

Appendix 3: Prisma diagram for included studies of harms



PRISMA Flow Diagram of studies of harms

Records identified through database searching:
Google Scholar (primary) n = 95

IPPO Living Map (primary) n = 41

ProQuest (primary) n = 66

SCOPUS (primary) n = 49

SCOPUS (all settings) n = 134

SCOPUS (secondary) n = 258

Records identified through manual searching (n = 63)

Records after duplicates removed

(Database searches = 76 duplicates

Records screened

(n = 854)

Studies included in review (n = 65)

Records excluded

(Duplicates n = 7

for follow-up/background n = 32

not COVID19 n = 51

not published before December

2019 n =1

not UK sample n = 117+67 = 184

not target education type n = 232

not target population n = 72

Screening

Eligibility

pepulan

Appendix 4: References to included studies on harms

Andrew A, Cattan S, Costa Dias M, Farquharson C, Kraftman L, Krutikova S, Phimister A and Sevilla A (2020). Inequalities in Children's Experiences of Home Learning during the COVID-19 Lockdown in England*. *Fiscal Studies*, 41(3), pp.653-683.

Asbury K, Fox L, Deniz E, Code A and Toseeb U. (2020). How is COVID-19 Affecting the Mental Health of Children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities and Their Families? *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 51(5), pp. 1772-1780.

Banerjee T, Khan A and Kesavan P;. (2021). Impact of lockdown and school closure on children in special schools: A single-centre survey. *BMJ Paediatrics Open*, 5(1).

Bayrakdar S. and Guveli A. (2020). Inequalities in home learning and schools' provision of distance teaching during school closure of COVID-19 lockdown in the UK. ISER Working Paper Series. Institute for Social and Economic Research.

Blainey K and Hannay T. (2021). The impact of school closures on autumn 2020 attainment Mainstream state schools show measurable declines in attainment between 2019 and 2020 across all years in reading, maths and GPS. This study looks at the impact on performance of deprivation, location, subject and year group. RS*Assessment (Hodder Education) and SchoolDash.

Brown L, Barnes J and Hayes E;. (2021). Traffic-related air pollution reduction at UK schools during the Covid-19 lockdown. *Science of the Total Environment*, 780, article number 146651.

Burkey Stefan. (2021). I want to do well: A literature review of existing research on children and young people's experiences of COVID-19. Newbury: Achievement For All.

Cattan S, Farquharson C, Krutikova S, Phimister A, Salisbury A and Sevilla A. (2021). *Inequalities in responses to school closures over the course of the first COVID-19 lockdown*. Institute for Fiscal Studies.

Children's Commissioner. (2020). School return: Covid-19 and school attendance.

Children's Commission for Wales. (2020). Coronavirus and Me.

Couper-Kenney F and Riddell S. (2021). The impact of COVID-19 on children with additional support needs and disabilities in Scotland. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 36(1), pp.20-34.

Children's Parliament. (2020). How are you doing? A report on the findings from the How are you doing? survey.

Cullinane C. and Montacute R. (2021). COVID-19 and Social Mobility Impact Brief #1: School Closures. The Sutton Trust.

Davies G. (2021). Support for children's education during the early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic. National Audit Office.

Department for Education. (2021). Understanding Progress in the 2020/21 academic year.

Department for Education. (2020). Attendance in education and early years settings during the coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak – summary of returns to 4 June. Downloaded:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/890949/Attendance_figures_coronavirus_covid_19_4_June_2020.pdf

Eivers et al. (2020). Home learning during Covid-19: Findings from the Understanding Society Longitudinal Study. National Foundations for Educational Research.

Education Policy Institute and Renaissance Learning. (EPI) (2021). *Understanding progress in the 2020/21 academic year Interim findings*. Department for Education.

The Food Foundation. (2020). *The Impact of Coronavirus on Children's Food*. [online]. Available at: https://foodfoundation.org.uk/new-food-foundation-data-sept-2020/

Garstang J, Debelle G, Anand I, Armstrong J, Botcher E, Chaplin H, Hallett N, Morgans C, Price M, Tan E E. H, Tudor E and Taylor J. (2020). Effect of COVID-19 lockdown on child protection medical assessments: A retrospective observational study in Birmingham, UK. *BMJ Open*, 10(9), Article number e042867.

Greenway Charlotte W and Eaton-Thomas Karen. (2020). Parent experiences of homeschooling children with special educational needs or disabilities during the coronavirus pandemic. *British Journal of Special Education*, 47(4), pp. 510-535.

Jester, N and Kang P. (2021). COVID-19 Pandemic: Is teenagers' health in crisis? An investigation into the effects of COVID-19 on self-reported mental and physical health of teenagers in secondary education. *Public Health In Practice*, 2, 100099.

Juniper Education. (2021). The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on primary school children's learning. National Dataset Report.

Khan T and Mikuska É. (2021). The first three weeks of lockdown in England: The challenges of detecting safeguarding issues amid nursery and primary school closures due to COVID-19. *Social Sciences & Humanities Open*, 3, 100099.

Kooth. (2020). Week 10: How Covid-19 is Affecting The Mental Health of Children and Young People. [online].

Lawton O G. P, Lawton S A; Dikomitis L, Protheroe J, Smith J and Mallen C D. (2021). Survey of young people in one region of the UK on accessing COVID-19 information (SOCIAL). *BMJ Paediatrics Open*, 5(1), Article number 000942.

Leaton Gray S., Saville, K., Hargreaves, E, Jones E and Perryman J. (2021). *Moving Up Secondary school transition processes during the COVID-19 pandemic*. Institute of Education.

Levita L. (2020). Initial research findings on the impact of COVID-19 on the well-being of young people aged 13 to 24in the UK. COVID-19 Psychological Research Consortium.

Loades M E, Chatburn E, Higson-Sweeney N, Reynolds S, Shafran R, Brigden A, Linney C. McManus M N, Borwick C and Crawley E. (2020). Rapid systematic review: the impact of social isolation and loneliness on the mental health of children and adolescents in the context of COVID-19. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 59(11): 1218-1239.

López-Bueno Rubén, López-Sánchez Guillermo F and Casajús José A; Calatayud Joaquín; Tully Mark A; Smith Lee; (2020). Potential health-related behaviors for pre-school and

school-aged children during COVID-19 lockdown: A narrative review. *Preventive Medicine*, 143, 106349.

Lorenc A, Kesten J M, Kidger J, Langford R and Horwood J. (2020). Reducing Covid-19 risk in schools: a qualitative examination of staff and family views and concerns. *medRxiv* [online] https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.10.25.20216937

Lucas M, Nelson J, Sims D. (2020). *Pupil engagement in remote learning*. National Foundation for Educational Research.

Magic Breakfast. (2020). Keeping Breakfast Going Through COVID-19. Magic Breakfast.

Mann J, Patel N, Bragg j and Roland D. (2021). Did children 'stay safe'? Evaluation of burns presentations to a children's emergency department during the period of COVID-19 school closures. [letter] Archives Dis Child, 106, e18.

Mansfield K L, Jindra C., Geulay G. and Fazel M. (2020). Self-reported wellbeing and sample characteristics in a survey of 19000 school pupils during the first UK COVID-19 school closures. Preprint from authors.

Marchant E, Todd C, James M, Crick T, Dwyer R and Brophy S. (2020). Primary school staff reflections on school closures due to COVID-19 and recommendations for the future: a national qualitative survey. *medRxiv*, https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.11.06.20227108

McCluskey G, Fry D, Hamilton S, King A, Laurie M, McAra L and Stewart T M. (2021). School closures, exam cancellations and isolation: the impact of Covid-19 on young people's mental health. *Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties*, 26(1), pp. 46-59.

Montacute R. and Cullinane C. (2021). Learning in Lockdown. Sutton Trust.

Mueller L-M and Goldenberg G. (2020). Education in times of crisis: Teachers' views on distance learning and school reopening plans during COVID-19: Analysis of responses from an online survey and focus groups. Chartered College of Teaching.

Nobari H, Fashi M, Eskandari A, Villafaina S, Murillo-Garcia Á and Pérez-Gómez J. (2021). Effect of covid-19 on health-related quality of life in adolescents and children: A systematic review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(9), Article number 4563.

Nonweiler J, Rattray F, Baulcomb J, Happé F and Absoud M. (2020). Prevalence and Associated Factors of Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties during COVID-19 Pandemic in Children with Neurodevelopmental Disorders. *Children*, 7(9), p. 128.

NSPCC. (2020). The impact of the coronavirus pandemic on child welfare: sexual abuse.

NSPCC. (2020). What children are saying to Childline about coronavirus A summary of young people's key concerns about coronavirus raised in Childline counselling sessions.

Parentkind. (2020a). 4th Parent Coronavirus Survey Results - England Only.

Parentkind. (2020b). School closures and coronavirus - SEND/SEN Survey.

Parnham J C, Laverty A A, Majeed A and Vamos E P;. (2020). Half of children entitled to free school meals did not have access to the scheme during COVID-19 lockdown in the UK. *Public Health*, , pp..

Pearce J and Miller C. (2020). Safeguarding children under Covid-19: What are we learning? *Journal of Children's Services*, 187, pp. 161-164.

Pearcey S, Shum A, Waite P, Patalay P and Creswell C. (2020). Report 05: Changes in children and young people's mental health symptoms and 'caseness' during lockdown and patterns associated with key demographic factors. Co-SPACE STUDY.

Proulx K, Lenzi-Weisbecker R and Hatch R, Hackett K, Cavallera V, Daelmans B and Dua T. (2021). Responsive caregiving, opportunities for early learning, and children's safety and security during COVID-19: A rapid review. *Medrxiv*, https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.02.10.21251507

Pungapong G. (2020). High Prevalence of Depression, Anxiety and Stress Among Secondary School Students During COVID-19 Lockdown and Social Distancing and Its Associated Factors: An Online Cross-Sectional Survey. [Preprint] Research Square.

Racher A. and Brodie I. (2020). Joining the dots? Tackling child exploitation during Covid-19. *Journal of Children's Services*, 15(4), pp. 275-295.

Raw J, Waite P, Pearcey S, Shum A, Patalay P, Creswell C. Examining changes in parent-reported child and adolescent mental health throughout the UK's first COVID-19 national lockdown. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.13490

Rose S, Twist L, Lord P, Rutt S, Badr K, Hope C and Styles B. (2021). Impact of school closures and subsequent support strategies on attainment and socio-emotional wellbeing in Key Stage 1: Interim Paper 1. Education Endowment Foundation.

Scottish Government. (2020). Coronavirus (COVID-19): children, young people and families - evidence and intelligence report.

Scott S, McGowan V J and Visram S . (2021). 'I'm Gonna Tell You about How Mrs Rona Has Affected Me'. Exploring Young People's Experiences of the COVID-19 Pandemic in North East England: A Qualitative Diary-Based Study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(7), Article number 3837.

Shum A, Pearcey S, Waite P and Creswell C. (2020). Supplementary Report o6: Young people's concerns about the return to school (Parent and Self-report). Co-SPACE STUDY.

Social Market Foundation. (2020). Measuring and mitigating child hunger in the UK: Two minute summary.

Sosu E and Klein M (2021). Socioeconomic Disparities in School Absenteeism after the First Wave of COVID-19 School Closures in Scotland". University of Strathclyde, Glasgow.

Sparks R S. J, Aspinall W P, Brooks-Pollock E, Cooke R M, Danon L, Barclay J, Scarrow J H and Cox J. (2021). A novel approach for evaluating contact patterns and risk mitigation strategies for COVID-19 in English primary schools with application of structured expert judgement. *Royal Society Open Science*, 8: 201566.

Sugand K, Park C, Morgan C, Dyke R, Aframian A, Hulme A, Evans S, Sarraf K M, Baker C, Bennett-Brown K, Simon H, Bray E, Li L, Lee N, Pakroo N, Rahman K and Harrison A. (2020). Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on paediatric orthopaedic trauma workload in central London: a multi-centre longitudinal observational study over the "golden weeks":

The COVid Emergency Related Trauma and orthopaedics (COVERT) Collaborative. *Acta Orthopaedica*, 91(6), pp.633-638.

The Sutton Trust. (2021). Remote Learning: The digital divide.

Theis N, Campbell N, De Leeuw J, Owen M and Schenke K C. (2021). The effects of COVID-19 restrictions on physical activity and mental health of children and young adults with physical and/or intellectual disabilities. *Disability and Health Journal*, [Article in press] Article number 101064

Viner RM, Bonell C, Drake L, *et al* (2021). Reopening schools during the COVID-19 pandemic: governments must balance the uncertainty and risks of reopening schools against the clear harms associated with prolonged closure. *Archives of Disease in Childhood*; 106:111-113.

Vizard T, Sadler K, Ford T, Newlove-Delgado T, McManus S, Marcheselli F, Davis J, Williams T, Leach C, Mandalia D and Cartwright C. (2020). *Mental Health of Children and Young People in England*, 2020 Wave 1 follow up to the 2017 survey. NHS Digital

Waite P, Pearcey S, Shum A, Raw JAL, Patalay P, Creswell C. How did the mental health symptoms of children and adolescents change over early lockdown during the COVID-19 pandemic in the UK? JCPP Advances. 2021;e12009. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcv2.12009

Widnall E, Winstone L, Mars B, Haworth C and Kidger J. (2020). Young People's Mental Health during the COVID-19 Pandemic: Initial findings from a secondary school survey study in South West England. NIHR, School for Public Health Research.

Young Minds. (2020). Impact of COVID-19 on children and young people's mental health: results of survey with parents and young carers.

Appendix 5: Studies by type of harm

Category	Learning and	Mental Health,	Increased	Physical	Other
	attainment	wellbeing	exposure to	health	
Survey	1. Banerjee (2021) 2. Cattan (2021) 3. Children's Parliament (2020) 4. Greenway (2020) 5. Lawton (2021) 6. Leaton (2021) 7. Levita (2020) 8. Lucas (2020) 9. Mansfield (2020) 10. Marchant (2020) 11. Mueller (2020) 12. Parentkind (2020a) 13. Parentkind (2020b) 14. The Sutton Trust (2021a) 15. The Sutton Trust (2021b)	1. Asbury (2020) 2. Children's Commissioner 3. Children's Commissioner for Wales 4. Children's Parliament (2020) 5. Jester (2021) 6. Levita (2020) 7. Mansfield (2020) 8. Marchant (2020) 9. Mueller (2020) 10. Nonweiler (2020) 11. Parentkind (2020a) 12. Parentkind (2020a) 12. Parentkind (2020b) 13. Pearcey (2020) 14. Pungapong (2020) 15. Shum (2020) 16. Theis (2021) 17. Vizard (2020) 18. Widnall (2020) 19. Young Minds	1. Children's Parliament (2020) 2. Khan (2021) 3. Mansfield (2020)	1. Jester (2021) 2. Mansfield (2020) 3. Marchant (2020) 4. Parentkin d (2020b) 5. Parnham (2020) 6. Social Market Foundati on 7. Theis (2021)	1. Parentkin d (2020b)
Caro	1 Couper Venny	(2020)			
Case study	1. Couper-Kenny (2021)				
Administ	1. Sosu (2021)	1. Kooth (2020)	1. NSPCC	1. Brown	1. Mann
rative	2. Andrew	2. NSPCC	(2020a)	(2021)	(2021)
Data	(2020)	(2020a)	2. Garstang	2. The food	
	3. Blainey	3. NSPCC	(2020)	Foundati	
	(2021)	(2020b)	3. Mann	on	
	4. Cullinane	4. Scottish Govt	(2021)	(2020)	
	(2021)		4. NSPCC	3. Garstang	
	5. Davies (2021) 6. DFE (2021)		(2020b)	(2020)	

	7. DFE (2020) 8. Montacute			4. Magic Breakfast (2020) 5. Mann (2021) 6. NSPCC (2020a) 7. NSPCC (2020b) 8. Scottish Govt (2020) 9. Sparks (2021)	
Longitudi nal Data Set	 Bayrakdar (2020) Elvers (2020) Education Policy Institute (2020) Juniper (2021) 			1 Sugand (2020)	
Literatur e Review	1. Lopez-Bueno (2020)	 Burkey (2021) Loades (2020) Lopez-Bueno (2020) Nobari (2021) 	1. Proulx (2021)	1. Lopez- Bueno (2020)	1. Proulx (2021)
Intervie ws/Focus Groups/D iaries Qualitati ve Analysis	1. McCluskey (2021)	1. McCluskey (2021) 2. Scott (2021)	1. McCluskey (2021) 2. Pearce (2020)		1. Lorenc (2020)
Action Research			1. Racher (2020)		
Total, all	32	29	11	17	4

International Public Policy Observatory (IPPO)

IPPO is an ESRC funded initiative to provide decision-makers in government at all levels with access to the best available global evidence on the social impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, and the effectiveness of policy responses. IPPO is a collaboration between the Department of Science, Technology, Engineering and Public Policy (STEaPP) and the EPPI Centre at UCL; Cardiff University; Queen's University Belfast; the University of Auckland and the University of Oxford, together with think tanks including the International Network for Government Science (INGSA) and academic news publisher The Conversation.

EPPI Centre

Founded in 1996, the EPPI Centre is a specialist centre in the UCL Social Research Institute. It develops methods: (i) for the systematic reviewing and synthesis of research evidence; and (ii) for the study of the use research. As well as being directly involved in the academic study and the practice of research synthesis and research use, the centre provides accredited and short course training programmes in research synthesis and social policy and research.

UCL Social Research Institute (SRI)

The SRI (formerly the Department of Social Science) is one of the leading centres in the UK for multidisciplinary teaching and research in the social sciences. With more than 180 academic, research and professional staff, it works to advance knowledge and to inform policy in areas including gender, families, education, employment, migration, inequalities, health and child/adult wellbeing.

.....

First produced in 2021 by:

UCL Social Research Institute University College London 27 Woburn Square London WC1H OAA

https://www.ucl.ac.uk/ioe/departments-and-centres/departments/ucl-social-research-institute

Twitter: @UCLSocRes

ISBN: 978-1-911605-22-5

Design and editorial support by: Lionel Openshaw

This document is available in a range of accessible formats including large print. Please contact the UCL Social Research Institute for assistance.

Email: ioe.sriadmin@ucl.ac.uk